
Agenda 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR DOCKET 
TUESDAY, May 9, 2023 at 5:30 P.M.  

Hybrid Meeting 
 
I.  Commission Pre-Meeting (Agenda discussion(s))  

Beginning: 5:00 p.m.  
Location: (CitySpace, 100 5th St NE, Charlottesville, VA 22902 and Electronic/Virtual) 
 

II.          Commission Regular Meeting  
Beginning: 5:30 p.m.  
Location: (CitySpace, 100 5th St NE, Charlottesville, VA 22902 and Electronic/Virtual) 

 
A. COMMISSIONERS' REPORTS 
B. UNIVERSITY REPORT  
C. CHAIR'S REPORT 
D. DEPARTMENT OF NDS  
E. MATTERS TO BE PRESENTED BY THE PUBLIC NOT ON THE FORMAL AGENDA  
F. CONSENT AGENDA  

(Items removed from the consent agenda will be considered at the end of the regular 
agenda) 

1. Minutes – November 9, 2021 – Regular meeting 
2. Minutes – November 23, 2021 – Work Session 

 
III.   JOINT MEETING OF COMMISSION/ COUNCIL  

Beginning: 6:00 p.m.  
Continuing: until all public hearings are completed  
Format: (i) Staff Report, (ii) Applicant, (iii) Hearing  

 
 
IV.    COMMISSION’S ACTION ITEMS   

Continuing: until all action items are concluded.  
 

1. Preliminary Discussion – 626+630 Cabell Ave 
2. Discussion - Zoning Ordinance Update 

 
V.    FUTURE MEETING SCHEDULE/ADJOURN 

 
   
Tuesday May 23, 2023 – 5pm Joint 

Work 
Session 

Zoning Ordinance  

Tuesday June 13, 2023  – 5:00 PM Pre- 
Meeting 

 

Tuesday June 13, 2023  – 5:30 PM 
 
 

Regular 
Meeting 

Minutes  
Rezoning and SUP –501 Cherry Avenue 
Special Use Permit - 218 West Market 
Zoning Ordinance Update 

 
 



Anticipated Items on Future Agendas 
Rezoning and SUP – 0 Carlton Road 
Site Plan –Flint Hill PUD, 240 Stribling Ave, Belmont Heights (1000 Monticello), Hillsdale Place, 1613 
Grove Street Extended, 0 East High Street  
Major Subdivision – Seminole Hillsdale  
Future Entrance Corridor 

• 1801 Hydraulic Road – revised Comp Sign Plan, (Hillsdale Place, Riverbend) 
 

PLEASE NOTE:  THIS AGENDA IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE PRIOR TO THE MEETING.   
 
PLEASE NOTE:  We are including suggested time frames on Agenda items.  These times are subject 
to change at any time during the meeting.  
 
Individuals with disabilities who require assistance or special arrangements to participate in the public 
meeting may call the ADA Coordinator at (434) 970-3182 or submit a request via email to 
ada@charlottesville.gov.  The City of Charlottesville requests that you provide a 48 hour notice so that 
proper arrangements may be made. 
 
Planning Commission premeeting and regular meetings are held in person with limited seating and by 
Zoom webinar. Instructions for meeting attendance is located here: 
https://www.charlottesville.gov/1552/Reserve-a-Seat-for-Planning-Commission-M. The webinar is 
broadcast on Comcast Channel 10 and on all the City's streaming platforms including: Facebook, Twitter, 
and www.charlottesville.gov/streaming. Public hearings and other matters from the public will be heard 
via the Zoom webinar which requires advanced registration here: www.charlottesville.gov/zoom . You 
may also participate via telephone and a number is provided with the Zoom registration or by contacting 
staff at 434-970-3182 to ask for the dial in number for each meeting. 

mailto:ada@charlottesville.gov
https://www.charlottesville.gov/1552/Reserve-a-Seat-for-Planning-Commission-M
http://www.charlottesville.gov/zoom


 
 

LIST OF SITE PLANS AND SUBDIVISIONS APPROVED ADMINISTRATIVELY 
4/1/2023 TO 4/30/2023 

 
 

1. Preliminary Site Plans 
2. Final Site Plans 
3. Site Plan Amendments 

a. 500 Cherry Avenue  (Tonsler Parking Lot SPA #1) – April 4, 2023 
4. Subdivision 

 
 

 
    

 
 

 



 

 

November 9, 2021 and November 23, 2021 Planning 
Commission Minutes are included as the last documents in this 

packet. 



Page 1 of 5  

 

CITY OF CHARLOTTESVILLE 
DEPARTMENT OF NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION PRELIMINARY DISCUSSION 
APPLICATIONS FOR A REZONING  

DATE OF THE MEETING: May 9, 2023 
 
Project Planner: Dannan O’Connell 
Date of Staff Report: April 19, 2023 

 
Applicant: Mitchell Matthews Architects and Planners 
Applicant’s Representative(s): Kevin Riddle  
Current Property Owner: Neighborhood Investments, LLC  
Application Information 
Property Street Address: 626 Cabell Avenue, 630 Cabell Avenue 
Tax Map & Parcel: 050156000, 050155000 
Total Square Footage/ Acreage Site: Approx. 0.626 acres (27,268 square feet) 
Comprehensive Plan (General Land Use Plan): Higher Intensity Residential 
Current Zoning Classification: Multifamily Residential (R-3) and University Two-Family 
Residential (R-2U) 
Overlay District: No 

 
Purpose of Meeting and Applicant’s Request (Summary) 
Neighborhood Investments, LLC (Owner and Applicant) is proposing to redevelop a multifamily 
property located at the intersection of Cabell Avenue and Burnley Avenue. The site consists of 
two (2) lots; 630 Cabell Avenue (existing structure) and 626 Cabell Avenue (building demolished 
and currently vacant). 630 Cabell Avenue was recently expanded via a Boundary Line 
Adjustment to incorporate 7,500 additional square feet from a neighboring property that is 
zoned R-2U. The applicant is proposing to rezone this additional area from University Two-
Family Residential (R-2U) to Multifamily Residential (R-3), making the entire subject property a 
uniform R-3 zoning. The applicant is proposing to construct a five-unit apartment building 
adjacent to the existing multifamily building, utilizing the by-right density currently allowed in 
the R-3 district. The applicant and their team are looking for feedback from the Planning 
Commission on the proposed project prior to moving forward to a Public Hearing. 



626-630 Cabell Avenue Rezoning Preliminary Discussion 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

Vicinity Map 

 
Context Map 1 

 



626-630 Cabell Avenue Rezoning Preliminary Discussion 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 

Context Map 2- Zoning Classifications 

KEY – Dark Orange: High Density Residential (R-3 and UHD); Light Orange: Two-Family 
Residential; Yellow: Single-Family Residential (R-1U and R-1S) 

 
Context Map 3- General Land Use Plan, 2021 Comprehensive Plan 
 

 
KEY: Yellow: General Residential; Light Brown: Medium Intensity Residential; Dark Brown: 
Higher-Intensity Residential 



626-630 Cabell Avenue Rezoning Preliminary Discussion 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

 

Key Elements of the proposed Development 
1. No changes to the existing apartment building; addition of 5-unit new apartment building 

directly adjacent. 
2. Density of 21 Dwelling Units per Acre (DUA) for a maximum unit count of 13. 
3. Maximum height limit of 45’. 
4. Setbacks: 

a. Cabell Avenue (Front) = Minimum 25’ 
b. Side = 1’ per 2’ in building height, Minimum 10’ 
c. Rear = Minimum 25’ 

5. Parking: 
a. 1 Space required per 1 or 2-bedroom residential unit. 2 Spaces required per 

3 or 4-bedroom residential unit. 
 
Module 1 (Zoning Map) from Cville Plans Together 

 
Note: This information is being provided only as a general concept and could change prior to 
adoption by City Council. The Planning Commission should not use this information as an either-or 
scenario for the proposed rezoning and should only use it as a general direction for this section of 
the City. 



626-630 Cabell Avenue Rezoning Preliminary Discussion 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

 
Proposed new zoning for subject property: Residential Mixed-Use (RX-3) 

1. Unspecified lot size with unlimited density. 

2. Size and density of the sites are controlled by form such as 80% maximum building 
coverage, setbacks, parking locations restrictions, massing, and transparency. 

3. Front and side setbacks: 5’ minimum, 15’ maximum. 

4. Allowed building height of 44’ (3 stories) with a bonus up to 72’ (5 stories) for 
affordable housing units. 

 
Proposed Discussion points for the Planning Commission: 

1. Is R-3 zoning appropriate for this location? 
2. Are there any comments or suggestions the applicant should consider as they move 

forward with the rezoning application? 

 
Attachments 

A. Applicant Materials 
 



626  630 CABELL AVE

M I T C H E L L  M A T T H E W S  A R C H I T E C T S

p r e l i m i n a r y  r e z o n i n g  d i s c u s s i o n

+

PROGRESS 

DRAFT



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

2
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA AERIAL VIEW

SITESITE

CA
BE

LL
  A

VE
GRADY  AVE

CABELL  AVE

BURNLEY  AVE

PROGRESS 

DRAFT



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

3
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA ZONING MAP

SITESITE

PROGRESS 

DRAFT



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

4
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA SURVEY WITH BOUNDARY LINES ADJUSTED

Multiple Zones R-2U & R-3

0.625 acresLand Area (Combined)



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

5
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA

Multiple Zones R-2U & R-3

0.625 acresLand Area (Combined)

R-3
R-2U

ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS

Most of this parcel-- as well as most parcels adja-
cent to it-- is zoned R-3. A small sliver of the parcel, 
roughly 1,200 square feet-- is zoned R-2U. 



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

6
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA AREA TO BE REZONED

Existing 
Building

Portion of the site 
(approx. 1,200 square 
feet) proposed to be 
rezoned from R-2U to 
R-3 to match the rest of 
the parcel

Multiple Zones R-2U & R-3

0.625 acresLand Area (Combined)

13With red area rezoned 
to R-3, the number of 
dwellings allowed by 

right

@ 21 DUA

The part of the parcel filled in red is currently classi-
fied R-2U. We plan to apply to rezone this area to 
R-3, matching the rest of the parcel. This will avoid 
multiple zones on a single parcel. It will simplify 
density calculations, allowing them to be consitent-
ly applied using R-3 parameters. With the parcel 
rezoned, the owner will have the flexibility to add 
one more additional dwelling on the parcel. If the 
area in red remains R-2U he can add only 4 more 
dwellings to the 8 apartments that currently exist 
on the site. With the red area rezoned to R-3, he 
can add 5 more dwellings by right. 

Existing Surface 
Parking



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

7
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA

37’ +/-

64’ +/-

Proposed 
5-unit 

Building

Existing 
Building

Proposed 
Surface 
Parking

PROPOSED LOCATION AND FOOTPRINT OF NEW BUILDING

Multiple Zones R-2U & R-3

0.625 acresLand Area (Combined)

The approximate location and footprint of a new 
5-unit building is outlined in black dashes. It will 
require new parking spaces, currently proposed to 
be surface parking behind the building. The new 
lot will be connected to the existing parking area 
to its north, essentially extending it. The existing 
driveway at the north corner of the site will serve 
both parking lots.

The proposed building will likely be a four-story 
structure over a basement apartment level. The 
building height will not be more than 45’ above 
average grade, as permitted by right.

For the front yard, we may request a slight 
reduction, allowing the new building’s front facade 
to align with the facade of the existing apartment 
building with which it shares the parcel.

We do not anticipate the need for side yard 
reduction but may consider it.

13With red area rezoned 
to R-3, the number of 
dwellings allowed by 

right

@ 21 DUA

Existing Surface 
Parking

Entry to Parking

Portion of the site 
(approx. 1,200 square 
feet) proposed to be 
rezoned from R-2U to 
R-3 to match the rest of 
the parcel

si
de

 y
ar

d 
se

tb
ac

k

front yard setback to align with 
existing building to the north



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

8
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA ENTRY DRIVE TO REAR PARKING

PROGRESS 

DRAFT



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

9
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA SITE OF PROPOSED NEW BUILDING



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

10
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA SITE OF PROPOSED NEW BUILDING

PROGRESS 

DRAFT



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

11
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA PLAN - PARKING LEVEL

971.5

0

5

10

20

C
ab

el
l A

ve
nu

e

972

HC

11 spaces

abandoned boundary line (parcels are now 
combined) 

side yard

fro
nt

 y
ar

d



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

12
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA

1025.33 Building Height  (42’-4”+/-  above av. grade)

1014.66 Bedroom Level - Upper Townhouses

1004 Entry Level - Upper Townhouses

993.33 Entry Level  - Lower Townhouses

982.66 Bedroom Level  - Lower Townhouses

972 Parking + 3-bedroom apartment level

983 +/- Average Grade (estimate) 

BUILDING SECTION



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

13
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA BIRD’S EYE VIEW



04 . 11 . 2023

M I TC H E L L  /  M AT T H E W S 
A r c h i t e c t s  &  P l a n n e r s 

434 . 979 . 7550 © 2023Al l  grades, counts and quant i t ies are approximate and wi l l  change as design proceeds.

PROGRESS 

DRAFT

14
626 CABELL AVE
Char lo t tesv i l l e  VA FROM CABELL AVENUE



 
1 

. Minutes  

PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING 
November 9, 2021 – 5:30 P.M. 

Virtual Meeting 
 
 

I. COMMISSION PRE-MEETING (Agenda discussion(s)) 
Beginning: 5:00 PM 
Location: Virtual/Electronic 
Members Present:  Chairman Solla-Yates, Commissioner Habbab, Commissioner Stolzenberg, 
Commissioner Mitchell, Commissioner Russell, Commissioner Lahendro 
Members Absent: Commissioner Dowell 
Staff Present: Patrick Cory, Missy Creasy, Alex Ikefuna, Jack Dawson, Lisa Robertson, Sam 
Sanders, Dannan O’Connell, Matt Alfele 
 

II. COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – Meeting called to order at 5:32 PM by the Chairman 
 Beginning: 5:30 PM 
 Location: Virtual/Electronic 
 
Chair Solla-Yates called the meeting to order at 5:00pm and he asked if there were any questions 
concerning the 0 Nassau application.  Commissioner Stolzenberg asked if anything was under 
construction and what type of construction would be needed.  Commissioner Russell asked for 
information on the flood plain which was explained.  She also asked about the ownership of neighboring 
properties and Mr. Alfele explained that there were multiple partners for the site and they are still working 
on the final status.  Commissioner Russell asked if the three lots would be combined.  It was noted that 
they would be.  Commissioner Stolzenberg noted that under their use matrix, there is no allowance for 
three or four unrelated or density up to 21 units.  Ms. Robertson explained how the uses needed to be 
outlined and that if something was not listed, it would be prohibited.  Ms. Scro with the development team 
noted that they were not interested in having a limit on unrelated persons and so did not note that in the 
matrix.  Ms. Robertson stated she would look up additional information and provide clarification in the 
meeting. 
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg asked why Coleman Street did not go with additional units.  Information was 
provided.  He also asked about sign posting for the site.  It was noted that was not a requirement. 
 
For 240 Stribling Avenue, Commissioner Mitchell asked if the applicant had addressed the commission’s 
comments from the last meeting with provision of a more robust agreement for the sidewalk project.  Ms. 
Robertson explained that the sidewalk project would need to be listed as a CIP project as it would show 
up as a debt for the City.  There is no consensus at this time to have this item listed in the CIP by decision 
makers.  Commissioner Mitchell noted that he feels he is hearing that the decision makers did not want to 
place this project above other priorities. Ms. Robertson clarified that there is not consensus to have this in 
the budget. Commissioner Stolzenberg asked why Council was not supportive. A discussion followed and 
Ms. Robertson clarified the potential legal and budget constraints. 
 

 
A. COMMISSIONER’S REPORT  

 



 
2 

Commissioner Lahendro – The Board of Architectural Review met October 19th. We had 3 certificate of 
appropriateness applications approved. One of those is for a small apartment building behind Preston 
Court. The apartment building is on a circular street behind Preston Court. We had one deferral and 3 
preliminary discussions for small, residential projects. The Tree Commission met last week (2nd of 
November). We had a great report from the education and advocacy committee. They’re making 
presentations to the city elementary schools on the health benefits of trees. They’re also working with the 
city schools to develop a curriculum study on trees. We have been coordinating with the Parks and 
Recreation to develop a final list of 167 trees that the city is going to plant this winter. That is less than 
the city goal of 200 trees a year to be planted. That goal is determined by just keeping it level with the 
current canopy. We are behind that. We also discussed the upcoming CIP. We are going to make 
recommendations/requests for budgets for both emerald ash bore treatment and for planting new trees. In 
the last few years, the city has combined these two things, thinking that they were equivalent. They are 
not equivalent. We need to save the ash trees. If we don’t, they are going to become hazards. It is going to 
end up costing more money to take them out. We need to be planting more trees. It is essential for many 
reasons: the health of our residents, the environment, and the planet. We are losing our own urban 
forester. He has been our liaison with the Tree Commission.   
 
Commissioner Russell – No Report 
 
Commissioner Habbab – The Thomas Jefferson Planning Commission created the Rivanna River 
Bicycle/Pedestrian Advisory Committee to help the Charlottesville/Albemarle MPO develop a concept for 
the bridge that is going to happen between Pantops and the Woolen Mills area. They wanted a planning 
commissioner member to be part of that committee. I have been appointed to be on that committee. We’re 
planning on meeting sometime in the next couple of weeks.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I have had one meeting since we last met. It was TJPDC. The main thing 
at that meeting was a presentation of our annual audit. The regional transit vision study has also started. 
The consultants on that team are now seeking input for what you and the community would like to see out 
of our transit system in the future. If you would like to see more frequent and reliable transit and new 
places, go to their website. There is a survey, map survey, and an open comment forum. There is an 
upcoming meeting (November 18th) that will discuss that. There is an Albemarle transit expansion study 
that will look at how to provide transit to 29 north by the airport to Monticello.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – The Parks and Recreation Board met. We are having staffing challenges. The 
staffing challenges are from top to bottom. We are still looking for a director. We also have a few senior 
leadership vacancies in Parks and Recreation. There are lots of vacancies ‘where the rubber meets the 
road.’ There is lots of work to be done to get people on board. Progress is being made. Mr. Sanders is in 
the middle of interviews. Another interesting piece happening there is that there is an unnamed park. This 
unnamed park is on 8th Street. This little park is across from the West Avon Community Center. We 
recommended a name for the Park. The Park name recommendation we made was Jenkins Park. It would 
be named after Hudson Jenkins. Mr. Jenkins was an African American blacksmith who owned the Livery 
Stable. The stable burned down in 1913. When it was active and people had access to it, it was frequented 
by people of all classes and people of all ethnicities. It was very prominent and profitable. That 
recommendation is being forwarded to Council. We have also been working on the Capital Improvement 
Budget. We have about 9 things that we would like to do. We’re not going to be able to do all of them 
because of the school reconfiguration piece. There are four things we think are pretty key: McIntire Park, 



 
3 

The Parks Master Plan, Completion of the Meadowcreek Trails, and Key Recreation Center. The other 
group that met was LUPEC (land use and environmental planning consortium including the city, county, 
and UVA). That meeting focused on energy and sustainability. There was a presentation from UVA’s 
own consultants, which is helping them develop strategies to move towards thermal energy. UVA would 
like to be carbon neutral by 2030. They would also like to be fossil free by 2050. The consultant is 
helping UVA look at existing and emerging technologies and strategies to get them to being fossil free by 
2050. There was a presentation by Albemarle County relating to its large scale solar panels. To do solar 
panels in Albemarle County, you need a special use permit. There are two that are either underway or 
have either been approved. They are working their way through the Albemarle Planning Commission and 
eventually to the Board of Supervisors. One is near Rivanna and one is near Midway/Batesville. There is 
one more that is going to be presented to the Planning Commission and to the Board of Supervisors to get 
a third solar farm. There was another presentation by the County. It is the city and county objective to 
reduce by 45 percent the emissions that were happening in 2008 by 2030. Between 2008 and 2018, we are 
already down by 10 percent. Progress is being made. The county’s sequestration of carbon is incredibly 
significant. The person doing the presentation walked us through what the number was. The county’s 
sequestration rate has been significant because of their canopy/forestry. There was a presentation by the 
Rivanna Water and Sewage Authority about the treatment of waste water. I didn’t know how much 
methane gas happens when you take the waste out of the water and put the clean water back into the 
Rivanna River.  
 
Commissioner Dowell – I did attend the October 26th School CIP committee meeting. We did have 5 
priorities. We also discussed the school projects that have been completed or are underway. One of the 
biggest things was the COVID mitigation equipment that has been installed in all of the schools. The 
Performance Art Center chiller has been replaced. Our classroom HVAC equipment has also been 
replaced. Venable and CATEC are set to get upgrades. We’re anticipating in 2022 that the building 
automation upgrades will be done to Clark. The Walker rooftop air units will also be upgraded. Some of 
the things that have been completed include the CHS parking lot signage, the Venable Annex has been 
repaired, there is a small safety issue at Venable, and Burley Moran has undergone the modernization of 
the school. One of the other big items was Walker-Buford reconfiguration/reconstruction. Construction is 
anticipated to start the summer of 2023, with Buford getting the most renovations of the gym and the 
existing buildings. Walker will have minimal upgrades.   
 
B. UNIVERSITY REPORT 

 
Commissioner Palmer – I wanted to talk about Emmet Street. It is closed down right now near the 
intersection with Ivy. We’re doing a bunch of stormwater enabling work in the road to help with our 
planned development of the Emmet/Ivy site. What we’re doing is putting in a big box culvert to replace 
three smaller pipes that conveyed stormwater under the road. That is progressing well. It should be done 
November 12th. It will hopefully be done earlier so that is helpful for people who are annoyed by being 
rerouted. It is not just the stormwater pipes that will help. It will also help Emmet Street. Periodically 
when it rains really hard, that road does flood. It should help with flooding. I doubt it will happen as 
frequently if at all in the future. I took the opportunity to coordinate with RSWA (Rivanna Sewage Water 
Authority) on a big water line in that vicinity to help them upgrade their water line there. We had to move 
a gas line. That will be put back together on November 11th. The three building projects that we have on 
Emmet Street are Contemplative Sciences, the School of Data Science (officially broke ground), and 
Hotel and Conference Center (January, 2022) breaking ground.  



 
4 

 
C. CHAIR’S REPORT 
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – No Report 

 
D. DEPARTMENT OF NDS 

 
Ms. Creasy – We have a work session scheduled for November 23rd. Confirming that time is going to be 
5:00 PM. That is what is on the budget schedule. This is specific to the CIP. That is in preparation for 
December when that will come forward to you all for recommendation. That moves onto Council when 
they are working through their budget sessions. We have a few new members. There is going to be the 
opportunity to have a CIP 101 discussion. We do have a robust December agenda. Keep an eye out for 
materials. We will have the hearings on the CIP, the MACAA PUD, and Park Street Christian Church 
PUD.   
 
E. MATTERS TO BE PRESENTED BY THE PUBLIC NOT ON THE FORMAL AGENDA 

No Public Comments 
 

F. CONSENT AGENDA  
 
Commissioner Mitchell moved to add the Coleman Street Application to the Consent Agenda 
and to approve the Consent Agenda. (Commissioner Lahendro Second) – Motion passes 7-0.  
 
1. Coleman Street Critical Slope Waiver 

 
III. JOINT MEETING OF COMMISSION AND COUNCIL 

  
Vice-Mayor Magill called Council to order for the Public Hearing on Nassau Street.  
 

Beginning: 6:00 PM 
Continuing: Until all public hearings are complete 
Format: (i) Staff Report, (ii) Applicant, (iii) Hearing, (iv) Discussion and Motion 

 
1. ZM21-0002 – 0 Nassau Street – Franklin Street Land Trust III landowner, has submitted a 
Rezoning Application for 0 Nassau Street, identified within the City’s Real Estate Tax records by 
Parcel Identification No. 610079600, 610079700, and a portion of 610079000 (Subject Properties). 
Pursuant to City Code Sec. 34-41, the purpose of the application is to change the zoning district 
classification of the Subject Property from R-2 (Residential Two-Family) to R-3 (Residential 
Multifamily Medium Density) subject to certain proffered development conditions (“Proffers”) and 
development plan. The Proffers include: (1) DESIGN: The design, height, density, and other 
substantive characteristics of the Project shall remain essentially the same, in all material aspects, as 
described within the application materials submitted to the City on July 16, 2021, (2) HEIGHT OF 
BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES: any buildings and structures located on the Property shall not 
exceed thirty-five (35) feet in height, and (3) LAND USES The Property may be used only for the 
following: By-right: single-family detached, single-family attached, townhome, two-family, accessory 
buildings, structures and uses; multifamily dwellings; residential treatment facility (1-8 residents), 



 
5 

utility lines; With a provisional or special use permit: home occupations and utility facilities. Any uses 
other than those listed above shall be prohibited. The proposed development plan indicates 2 
multifamily buildings with 5 units in each building for a total of 10 units on the Subject Properties. 
The proposed density will be 19.4 dwelling units per acre (DUA). The Subject Property is 
approximately 0.51 acres with frontage on Nassau Street. The Comprehensive Land Use Map for this 
area calls for Low Density Residential. Information pertaining to this application may be viewed 
online at www.charlottesville.gov/agenda. Persons interested in this Rezoning may contact NDS 
Planner Matt Alfele by e-mail (alfelem@charlottesville.gov).  
 
i. Staff Report 

 
Matt Alfele, City Planner – Justin Shimp (Shimp Engineering, P.C.) and Nicole Scro representing the 
owner, Franklin Street Land Trust III, has submitted a Rezoning Application pursuant to City Code Sec. 
34-41 seeking a zoning map amendment to change the zoning district classification of the above parcel of 
land. The application proposes to change the zoning classification of the Subject Properties from the 
existing R-2 (Residential Two-Family) to R-3 (Residential Multifamily) with proffers and a development 
plan. The Subject Properties have road frontage on Nassau Street and the Comprehensive Land Use Map 
for this area calls for Low Density Residential.  
 
Key aspects of the development plan include two 5 unit multifamily buildings, 3 one bedroom, and 2 two 
bedrooms units in each building; not more than ten total units on the subject property, a central parking 
area between the two buildings, an outdoor recreation area behind the southernmost building, a 
greenhouse behind the recreation area, and new sidewalks on the south side of Nassau Street. 
 
The proffers include design elements that the design height, density, and other substantive characteristics 
of the project shall remain the same in all material aspects as described in the application materials 
submitted to the city on July 16, 2021, including but not limited to the conceptual site plan dated July 10, 
2021. With the height of the building structure, any structure located on the building property shall not 
exceed 35 feet in height. The permitted uses on the subject property will be as follows: single-family 
detached, single-family attached, townhome, two-family, accessory buildings, structures and uses; 
multifamily dwellings; residential treatment facility (1-8 residents), utility lines and with a provisional or 
special use permit: home occupations and utility facilities. Any uses other than those listed above shall be 
prohibited. 
 
Commissioner Russell – I was asking staff about the classification of this site as in the 1 percent 
exceedance floor plain per city GIS and wanted to better understand what that meant and how the building 
engineers review site plans and building permits with that layer.   
 
Mr. Alfele – There is a floodway, the 1 percent flood plain, and the 0.2 percent flood plain. You’re not 
allowed to build in the floodway. You can build in the flood plain provided you go through a process to 
receive a permit.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – A deeper understanding of that would be key to our ability to approve. If there 
is nobody from the city online, maybe we can defer to the applicant to talk about it.  
 



 
6 

Chairman Solla-Yates – We received some emails today from the public about this project. Can you 
summarize what those emails were saying?  
 
Mr. Alfele – During this process, we have had limited interaction from the public reaching out to us. The 
applicant held their required community meeting. We did not have anybody from the public attend that 
meeting. Today, we did receive quite a few emails from the public. They mainly speak to the low density 
characteristics of this neighborhood. This part of the Comprehensive Plan calls for low density use. The 
other main points have been concerned about traffic on Nassau Street and the applicant getting the most 
density out of the site and the site might not be appropriate for such a dense development.   
 

ii. Applicant Presentation 
 
Nicole Scro, Applicant – The property is located along Nassau Street. It is the property in between the 
Habitat units. This (right side) is the Habitat and Community Land Trust. This is where they have two 
duplexes. On the opposite side, there are two duplexes being built by Justin Shimp. They’re under 
construction. Those duplexes are under construction by right. The site plan that was approved for this 
property includes this entire area, the Habitat, the Land Trust, the by right duplexes, and had envisioned 
duplexes by right in this site area. That site plan is effective. There is a land disturbance permit there. 
There is the ability and the legality to disturb that land and has been disturbed for some fill. There is no 
building permit but a land disturbance permit.  
 
Next Slide 
 
This is the zoning map. This is R-2 along this street. There is a highway in pink. There is a by right 28 
unit apartment complex that has been approved in a preliminary site plan.  
 
Next Slide 
 
Here is the Land Trust, Habitat, single family, and the two duplexes built by the Justin Shimp. This is the 
rendering of that 28 unit apartment complex.  
 
Next Slide 
 
This site was designed to mirror what can be done by right. This full-length driveway can be done by 
right. The disturbance area was approved. The floodplain fill has been approved. All of those issues have 
been approved. It is really a matter of whether we can allow that box of buildable area to have 5 units in it 
or 2 units. The question before you is not the amount of disturbance or buildable area. It is about how 
many people/units can be in that area.  
 
Next Slide 
 
This is an aerial site plan. It is R-3, which requires some pretty ‘hefty’ amenities/requirements. This is our 
little recreation area. We have a greenhouse. You can see (in blue) where the floodplain is. That is 0.2 
percent. I think that Commissioner Russell mentioned that the county was different. The county doesn’t 
allow disturbance in the floodway. The county allows disturbance in the floodplain by special use permit. 
It is allowed by right in the city. There is still a permit process. There are still engineers reviewing it. It is 



 
7 

a similar review. It is a special use permit in the county and by right here for the floodplain. That is 0.2 
percent.  
 
Our thought process here was, in building the duplexes, with the cost of construction rising, the rent to 
cover those costs, it would hit around $2100, which is about market rate for a 3 bedroom unit. These are 
fairly large units. If we are able to have the same or similar footprint, we can fit in 5 units and 
accommodate more people at lower rents. This is designed to be a very simple construction to 
accommodate the lower end of the market rate. Instead of continuing to build by right and hitting those 
higher rents, why don’t we allow more people to live here and hit lower rents?   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – Based on what I have heard from staff and others, the floodplain is not a real 
issue. Is that your understanding?  
 
Ms. Scro – This can be confusing. This came up with the project we had before. If you look online, the 
map you see will cover more of the property. That is because FEMA doesn’t update its maps when there 
is a map adjustment. It just references it in text. The floodplain is based on the elevation. To draw the 
correct floodplain, you need to look at the text and look at that amendment and look up the elevation for 
this area. That is this blue line that runs through the back of the property. People are concerned that more 
of this property is in the floodplain. That is understandable. It is just along this area. If you look towards 
Habitat, they have a driveway going between their units. They have a turn off of that driveway. That turn 
off area is permeable pavers. There actually will be a certain number of permeable pavers that will likely 
be required for this back area. That is because this site plan was approved under previous regulations, 
which were more stringent. The disturbance that happens can’t be covered by outside nutrient credits. 
This actually has to be mitigation on the property. If we were to adjust the site plan approved for land that 
has already been disturbed, we have to abide by those previous regulations. Any disturbance that happens 
on this property can’t be mitigated by nutrient credits. It actually has to happen on the property. These 
will be permeable pavers back there.  
 
Commissioner Dowell – My original thought was that this wasn’t going to be harmonious with the 
neighborhood. I am having second thoughts about that. I did want you to touch on this. I know citizens 
have concerns about that.  
 
Ms. Scro – For R-3, I know that it can seem a step up in density, scale, and massing. We have a proffer 
that limits the height to 35 feet, rather than 45 feet. The proffer also references the concept plan. It is 
supposed to be a very similar building to what is up there right now. The building is going to be very 
similar to these neighboring units and slightly wider. It is a matter of putting more people in a very similar 
buildable footprint.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – I was wondering about the playground. I know you are building other duplexes 
next door. Is that something that is limited to this property? Will other people be able to use that space? 
Have you considered permeable parking surfaces?  
 
Ms. Scro – Yes to the first questions. This property is owned by Justin Shimp. It will function together 
and is a little over-parked. We’re hoping that some of the parking can be utilized as well by the other 
units. We’re hoping for it to function together. I don’t know if the amenity requirements are restricted 
only to those residences. The playground area has to be restricted to just these 10 units. There is Rives 



 
8 

Park directly across the street. I think the permeable pavers are great, especially for this floodplain area. 
Mr. Shimp stated that sometimes disturbed soil doesn’t percolate as well. It is not as helpful as it could be 
in other areas. It still has an impact. It is going to be some sort of mitigation; either bioswale or permeable 
pavers will be required. We’re leaning towards permeable pavers.   
 
Commissioner Habbab – One of the emails we received touched on the pedestrian/bicycle safety aspect. 
Can you speak to that? How does the project contribute to the bicycle shared use road that is right there? 
Are there going to be bike racks? How does this development contribute to that?  
 
Ms. Scro – Bike racks are great. It is one bike space per two dwelling units that is required. We want to 
put in as many bike racks as we can. That is five bike racks that are required. I know it is designated as a 
shared road The Streets That Work. We had quite a bit of parking back there. That also helps alleviate 
some of the street parking, which does help with some bicycle and pedestrian use. We are extending the 
sidewalk that connects from Habitat to the by right duplexes. That whole strip of Nassau will now have 
sidewalks up to the single family detached. When you improve sidewalks, you have to make sure that it is 
ADA compliant. With other projects, they have said that when you spill out into the roadway, you have to 
allow room for them to go. It is at the discretion of the site plan area.   
 
Jack Dawson, City Engineer – I am familiar with all of the developments around there. I would have to 
defer to the traffic engineer how that applies to by right. Generally, they have to improve the frontage 
with the sidewalk. It depends on where the ramps would go. You can’t build a ramp to nowhere. We 
would have to look at what ramps are existing across the street, how that would work. It is an intersection. 
If this was a new street, there would have to be an implied crossing at every intersection. I don’t know 
how this applies in this situation.  
 
Mr. Alfele – This is the rezoning. There is no site plan with this. They would have to adhere to all site 
plan regulations should they submit a site plan.  
 
Commissioner Russell – At the end of your parking lot, it looks like it continues on as if a road would. Is 
that just an area for cars to back out? Is that the idea that one day it would extend in some capacity?  
 
Ms. Scro – I don’t think it would be extended. It would need to be approved as a street. It is a driveway 
right now. It can’t be extended without more approval. These actually might be crossed off for turnaround 
areas. There might not be as much parking in here as it is shown. I think we have to look at the design for 
that. This can also be extended for a better turnaround rather than removing parking spaces. We have 4 or 
5 more spaces than we need 
 
Commissioner Russell – Can you show me where you have a retaining wall at the northern corner? 
There is a retaining wall with a maximum height of 8 feet. What is the elevation difference between that 
point and the house next door?  
 
Ms. Scro – There is this swale. There is stormwater that comes out right here. There is stormwater 
moving through here. There is a bit of dip down and then goes back up. How much difference there is, is 
something I don’t know. 
 



 
9 

Commissioner Russell – I am just trying to understand if this is a 35 foot capped height structure. It is 
towering over its neighbor. I was there today. It seems like the stream is relatively flat.  
 
Ms. Scro – It drops off in the back. From the street, these won’t be above the street. There is actually 
some fill there that has some growth on it. They will sit on top of that fill, which is about at street level. 
This is the max height. It is not going to be 8 feet across the whole portion.   
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – The topo line that goes through the duplex next door is at 320. The top of 
the retaining wall is 324.   
 
Mr. Dawson – I believe that 320 is an existing contour. The finished floor was 328 for the existing as 
labeled. What they have is 327.5. They are about the same. The max is an 8 foot wall, which holds the 
building up from the stream. None of this is a rezoning. All of this gets worked out later.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – With the playground, if it is allowed and it doesn’t have to be totally 
private, I would encourage you to potentially make it available to not just the people in your existing 
development, but also the people in the land trust and Habitat units if possible.  
 
With the crosswalk situation, recognizing that this is something that gets worked out in the site plan 
review, we did hear many comments complaining about people speeding down this street. If there is 
anything we can do with traffic calming there, I was going to ask if that is feasible.  
 
With the duplex next door, is that for sale or for rent?  
 
Ms. Scro – For rent.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – What are the rents on those?  
 
Ms. Scro – About $2100. They’re not finished yet.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Those are 3 bedroom units? 
 
Ms. Scro – That’s correct.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – What do you see as the probable market rent for these one and two 
bedroom units?  
 
Ms. Scro – Probably a little less than $1300. Those will probably be around the 125 FMR or lower. We 
would be thrilled with that. These are that kind of workforce housing; between 70 and 100 AMI. They are 
500 square feet for the one bedroom units.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – It looks like you’re going down from 90 percent AMI for those 3 bedroom 
units to 70 percent AMI with the 2 bedroom units.  
 
I want to be clear on the floodplain. You mentioned that there was a map revision. There seems to be two 
things going on here. There is broad, area-wide map revision after the Woolen Mills dam was removed, 



 
10 

which lowered the floodplain elevation. You are saying that the new flood elevation is 324 feet. 
Separately, you are going to fill in the site so that blue line on this site plan is at 324 feet. Is that correct?    
 
Ms. Scro – That’s correct. Justin Shimp has the legality/ability to put fill in that site.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – With that greenhouse, what are your plans for that? Is that just going to be 
a gardening space for residents on site?  
 
Mr. Scro – The intention was for that to be for the residents to grow what they want to grow; not for 
retail.  
 
Councilor Snook – How many square feet per building are you going to have floor area?  
 
Ms. Scro – 1680 square feet.  
 
Councilor Snook – Is that the footprint? Is that after you add up all of the floors? 
 
Ms. Scro – That is the footprint. There are two floors.  
 
Councilor Snook – We’re talking about 3200 square feet. You would be allowed (by right) to have six 
units on those three parcels. You’re proposing 10 units. You’re looking at roughly 600 to 700 square feet. 
They’re not huge apartments. You have 5 of them in each of two buildings. You could have 6 units of 
substantially greater size per unit. In terms of intensity of the use of those 3 lots, I think we have to keep 
in mind that the amount of density that we’re adding here.  
 
Commissioner Dowell – What is considered affordable? What is the average 1 or 2 bedroom units going 
for in Charlottesville? Looking at the actual footprint of the project, it doesn’t seem that bad. When you 
start talking square footage to dollar amount, $1300 for a small one bedroom apartment does seem a little 
expensive.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I don’t have everything that is the average on the market prices.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I don’t think the objective of this is to improve the affordable housing stock. It 
is just to increase the housing stock.  
 
Commissioner Dowell – I understand that. My objective was to always consider actual affordable 
housing whether it is that objective or not. I think that is something our city has been clear that this is 
something we need. I think it will be superficial for me not to ask the question.  
 

iii. Public Hearing   
 

Kimber Hawkey – We went through this in 2018. We are dismayed to see the continuous push to 
develop an inappropriate area, especially on the Nassau floodplain. I know there is this ‘back-and-forth’ 
on percentages. The reality is that building on the floodplain is bad planning practice. My understanding 
is that this project would not be allowed in the county. Perhaps Charlottesville should adopt their recent 
thinking. Commissioner Mitchell pointed out something interesting about the sequestration of carbon. 



 
11 

This is an important topic. It is trees that take carbon out of the atmosphere. We can use the earth to pull 
all of that carbon out of the air. The best thing to do in this area would be to plant pine trees. Those pine 
trees would not only pull out the carbon, it would also absorb a lot of the water in that area. I also want to 
address the racial and economic class injustice issues related to climate change and where housing is 
provided. This is a problematic area. It is very wet. This could perhaps be mitigated. I am not convinced 
of that. People of color and low income brackets are pushed into these problematic housing areas, who 
will suffer when the flooding occurs. There will be flooding. It is a matter of time. When you build, you 
push that water elsewhere. I am also concerned about the node of no direct interaction with the 
neighborhood as pointed out in the packet. I would ask that you respect the previous denial of this type of 
plan and vote ‘no’ to increasing the density on the floodplain.   
 
Jason Halbert – I was with others who led the charge to remove the Woolen Mills Dam in 2007. The 
historical floodway was changed. We provided the hydrology studies to the city and others to help change 
the themed maps. It is still possible to flood there because it is down by the river. The removal of the dam 
will help mitigate some of that. The 1997 flood with hurricane Fran flooded this site. If you build it up a 
little bit and with the mitigation with the dam removal, you should be ‘good to go.’ We need the housing.   
 

iv. Commission Discussion and Motions 
 

Commissioner Stolzenberg – I know that when you build in the floodplain, you’re required to have one 
foot of freeboard, the base level of your finished first floor is at least one foot above the base flood 
elevation. Since you’re removing yourself from the floodplain so that the building won’t be in the 
floodplain after the fill, would you still have some amount of free board above the floodplain when these 
are built?  
 
Ms. Scro – I don’t know the answer to that.  
 
Commissioner Russell – I would like to start the conversation picking up from where Commissioner 
Dowell left off. This proposal is in front of us tonight. We will review it based on the existing zoning 
ordinance. This proposal is in what is designated as a future sensitive area. Our objectives are to limit 
displacement, to increase affordable housing, and limit gentrification. We’re talking around this. We’re 
talking around what the affordability is. There are some reservations and some pushback from members 
of the public. We can talk about what we want out of sensitive community designation in using this as an 
example. How would this be different in a future review? I don’t know if this is helpful. It is relevant.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I think that it is relevant. I think it is important we have that conversation. We 
ought to focus on the application in front of us. We have to resolve this application.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – It seems to me the big goals of the sensitive areas is to stop displacement 
so existing residents aren’t getting pushed out of their homes and we’re not tearing down homes to build 
new homes. Another goal is to help ensure or encourage any new development to not be wildly out of line 
with existing socio-economic conditions right now. An example would be that blue home on stilts that is a 
60th percentile house in the city, which is significantly more expensive than the areas around here. To me, 
it seems that the by right use is going to be 3 bedroom apartments affordable to families of four that are at 
94 percent of the median income. That is not totally terrible. It is affordable to people in the bottom half 
of the income spectrum. We have the opportunity by allowing smaller units to get it affordable to families 



 
12 

of three at 66 percent of area median income. At that level, it is right around the mark where you could 
also apply a better housing choice voucher and be able to have even lower levels. By having less 
expensive units affordable to people at lower incomes, it seems like a positive one and in line with what I 
see as our goals for denser areas.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – The only objection I would have had was the floodplain area. Staff has made 
me pretty comfortable with the questions that Ms. Russell asked and the way staff answered them.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – By proffering the height, they have made sure that it fits into the 
neighborhood. The building is not in the floodplain. It is not an issue for me.  
 
Motion – Commissioner Russell – I move to recommend approval of this application to rezone the 
Subject Property from R-2, to R-3, on the basis that the proposal would service the interests of the 
general public and good zoning practice. Second by Commissioner Mitchell. Motion passes 7-0.  
 
Meeting was recessed for five minutes.  
 

IV. COMMISSION ACTION ITEMS 
 

1. 240 Stribling Avenue 
 
Staff Report  
 
Matt Alfele, Staff Report – On September 14, 2021 Planning Commission held a Public Hearing for the 
requested rezoning application. The application was seeking to rezone the Subject Property from R-1S 
(Single Family Small Lot) and R-2 (Residential Two-family) to PUD (Planned Unit Development) with a 
development plan and proffers. The applicant was also seeking a recommendation on a Critical 
Slope Waiver at that meeting. Both applications are needed for the proposed development. 
 
During the Public Hearing the Planning Commission heard from sixteen (16) members of the public. 
Most speakers raised concerns about the safety of Stribling Avenue and how additional dwelling units on 
the Subject Property would be detrimental to public safety. A few speakers were in favor of the 
development and would like to see more affordable dwelling units in the City and felt this development 
would provide that. If Stribling Avenue was improved and had sheltered sidewalks, most residents in the 
area would be in favor, or less opposed to the development. During Planning Commission’s discussion 
density, affordable housing, street trees, and the proposed sidewalks on Stribling were all discussion 
points. Most Commissioners liked the development and the affordable units it would provide, but did not 
feel the proposed agreement between the developer and the City was detailed enough. The Planning 
Commission and City Council did not have enough information to know if the City would have to cover 
any gaps in funding for the improvements to Stribling Avenue. There was disagreement between what the 
developer felt it would cost and what the City Engineer believed the estimate should be. To address this 
issue and some of Planning Commissions/Staff concerns, the applicant requested and was granted a 
deferral. In that time, the applicant made minor modifications to the application. The application before 
you tonight is basically the same as what you were reviewing on September 14th with the following 
changes.  

• No changes to the critical slope. 



 
13 

• Within the rezoning application, the applicant updated the setback requirements. The original 
application called for a minimum building setback (front, side, and rear) of zero and adjacent to 
properties of 5 feet. The new setbacks being required are a minimum (front, side, and rear) of zero 
and adjacent to outside properties of 5 feet but a maximum for ten feet. This would create a build 
to zone within the development. The original development setback you had zero but go as far as 
back as you wanted. The new proposal is zero but a maximum of ten feet. These setbacks exclude 
any frontage on Stribling Avenue. 

The applicant also updated the phasing to reflect the requirements of open space. There was no 
information provided in the original application. In the new application, a minimum of 1.00 acre of Open 
Space shall be dedicated in Phase 1. At least 20% total Open Space area shall be provided with each phase 
thereafter. 
 
The Planning Commission closed their public hearing on September 14th. No new public hearings are 
needed tonight. The Planning Commission can continue the discussion from September 14th and make 
recommendations to City Council.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I would like to know what progress has been made. We pushed it back because 
we wanted the applicant to work with Public Works to figure out a way to coordinate the sidewalks and 
streetscape. What has happened?   
 
Mt. Alfele – Are you referencing that there was a discussion about trying to widen the sidewalks around 
the trees?  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – There was a whole issue with the sidewalks. 
 
Mr. Alfele – With the sidewalks directly in front of the property, the applicant did look at that. Due to 
where the trees are and the width of Stribling Avenue, there is no way to preserve the trees directly in 
front of the subject property, even with the innovative sidewalks around the trees. You’re still going to 
lose those trees.  
 
Jack Dawson, City Engineer – I did a presentation to Council. I provided an over/under. I said that it 
was over 2.8 or 2.9 with a 20 percent contingency. As I stated to Council, it is not a complete estimate. It 
is just an improved estimate. It is likely to be higher than that. I did that exercise. I did provide that 
information to Council.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – When will we be able to improve the infrastructure here relative to moving 
this development along? The objection we had was that we didn’t have a way to make them work 
together. Has the developer and staff been able to talk through that? I do understand that we have a capital 
improvement backlog that needs to be addressed. When does the backlog catch up with the work that 
needs to be done on the infrastructure at 240 Stribling Avenue to make this development work and be safe 
for the residents that live there?  
 
Mr. Dawson – I don’t believe it is reflected in the current CIP. We can’t do projects that aren’t on the 
current CIP without money. We try not to initiate projects without funds. I can’t speak to when that would 
be. I am not in the loop on the most up to date information.  
 



 
14 

Commissioner Mitchell – My objective is to remind us the counsel we got from Ms. Robertson (City 
Attorney) as it relates to when we get to a motion so we protect the infrastructure but move this along.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I had a question for staff on concern #4 about the dead end service road to 
service the garages of the townhomes. I am trying to understand why they don’t qualify as an alley. Are 
they too wide? Is it because they are dead end? Is there anything could have been changed in this plan to 
mitigate that? Is it a fundamental problem with the general conceptual layout of the site?  
 
Mr. Alfele – Alleys have a specific meaning in our code. Alleys should connect; they should not be dead 
end. They function as an alley. They’re not alleys as we would define them when we are looking for 
discretionary rezoning and trying to further along some of our goals in the Comp Plan. Staff is not trying 
to say that these aren’t acceptable in these formations. They don’t serve the purpose of backloading the 
homes. They’re not alleys. They’re shared driveways. The lots are flag lots because of that and how water 
needs to be provided to them. It is more of a function of that they serve a purpose but they don’t serve a 
purpose as defined in our code.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – If they were extendable (as in adjacent property owners wanted to extend 
them and there was some agreement to allow them), would that make it a non-dead end alley and make it 
an acceptable alley? 
 
Mr. Alfele – If they extended it in the future and until the end on a city maintained road, I don’t see how 
they would not be “dead end alleys.” Staff feels that they function for what they need to function. They’re 
not bad in providing that rear loading. When we talk about connectivity, we are talking about connecting 
to other public infrastructure.  
 
Applicant Presentation 
 
Charlie Armstrong, Applicant – This is a rehash of the community engagement that this project has 
been through so far beginning in August, 2019. All of this is familiar from our last meeting, except for the 
deferral from the last meeting primarily to address the discrepancies about the sidewalk cost and refine 
how the developer and city participated in that together.  
 
Next Slide 
 
Changes in the plan that we made since the last meeting in September were in response to some 
Commission comments we heard in that meeting and some ideas we hadn’t thought of. We revised the 
setbacks as staff mentioned earlier. That eliminates the potential utility conflict. We revised the phasing 
plan to clarify that open space will happen with each phase. We went a step further in saying that at least 
one acre of open space will happen with the first phase. We also clarified the treatment of the tree 
preservation areas. We made those easier to see and added specification for a native wildflower mix in 
areas that cannot have trees. For example, areas where there is an existing sewer line. Those areas can 
have a native mix of ground cover but cannot have trees. We added a few more trees in common areas. 
We did look into preserving each of those beech trees with our engineer, the city traffic engineer, and the 
city utility engineer. It is not good overall practice to do so. The roots are right on the edge of the existing 
pavement on a road that is not wide enough per current city standards. Though they are pretty trees, they 
just can’t be saved with good engineering practice or with any widening of Stribling or adding a sidewalk. 



 
15 

We thoroughly looked into that. They’re also listed as not a good street tree on the Master Tree List. I 
don’t know the reasons for that. I assume it has something to do with the roots. We increased the amount 
of funding we’re offering in the separate performance agreement that goes to Council, not specifically the 
Planning Commission for action. We increased that to the $2.9 million total. The city engineer estimate 
was $2.873 million. We feel this work can be completed for significantly less, hence our previous amount 
proposed. We do think it is important enough that we want to make sure that our amount is with the city 
engineering estimate.  
 
With regards to the process with Public Works on this, I got an email the night of the last Planning 
Commission meeting from city officials to engage in discussions about this. There were immediate and 
substantial conversations. City engineering shared with us their estimates. We had a meeting with our 
engineers, the city engineers, and other officials to discuss about where those numbers came from. I am 
not sure we agree on the estimates. We’re trying to make that disagreement estimate irrelevant with this 
new increased funding number proposal. We want to get those sidewalks built. We want to provide the 
funding so it could be put into the CIP whenever you do that. Those funds will be there. We would like 
for this to happen immediately. We have already done a lot of the preliminary surveying. I am sure that 
more will need to be done to pick up other items. We surveyed the entire corridor. We have done a 
preliminary layout for sidewalks and drainage. Mr. Dawson (City Engineer) has also done a preliminary 
layout for the city’s own due diligence. There are some differences. We have a pretty good idea of what 
will need to happen. There are a lot of details in the engineering that will come later. Our funds will be 
ready for the construction to be paid for before we are allowed to apply for a land disturbance permit for 
the site.  
 
Next Slide 
 
We are offering funds up front to pay for this. Our development significantly increases the value of the 
real estate at 240 Stribling Avenue. The taxes go up a lot. We’re going from a tax of about $9800 per year 
on the vacant land as it sits to an eventual tax of over $700,000 per year. Those are the receipts to the city 
looking out at a 20 year horizon. The city always receives and keeps all of the tax that is shown in orange 
on this chart. The blue is what is allocated to pay for the sidewalks. Under this illustration (a conservative 
estimate of the city tax rate, inflation, and the actual value of 170 new homes), the sidewalks are paid for 
in just over 6 years. Every dollar after that is tax receipts to the city that is unallocated and goes into the 
General Fund and can be used for other priorities of the city. This gives you an idea of how that cash flow 
pays for the sidewalks and other future things for the city.  
 
Next Slide 
 
This slide is the cumulative amount of those dollars starting year zero. In 20 years, this is conservatively 
$8.5 million of new tax revenue after paying for the sidewalks.  
 
Next Slides 
 
This is a reminder of context for the site. 
 
Next Slide 
 



 
16 

We are pledging in the proffers about 25 units of new, affordable housing at 60 percent AMI or less with 
a requirement that at least 30 percent of those be rental and at least 30 percent be for sale for 
homeownership. The remaining 40 percent to be at our discretion (for rent and homeownership).   
 
Commissioner Habbab – How long is the construction expected to last?  
 
Mr. Armstrong – If you look at the first bar chart, it showed a ramp up of those real estate tax revenues. 
That anticipated approximately a 5 year buildout of the project. That is obviously dependent on certain 
market conditions. That is what we expect.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Somebody in the pre-meeting said that you were hoping/expecting to break 
ground in upcoming fiscal year (July, 2022 to June, 2023). You would have to put the money available to 
the city by then. They have to do their planning to start on the sidewalks. In your experience, is that really 
the timeframe where you would be looking at actually getting everything together, to get approvals from 
the city (land disturbance, building permits, etc.)? When do you realistically think that you would break 
ground under realistic conditions? What is the status of Flint Hill? When did we approve that?  
 
Mr. Armstrong – With Flint Hill, we are still working through approvals on the Flint Hill site plan. I 
don’t remember when the Flint Hill PUD was approved. It was approved August, 2020. We probably still 
have 9 months of likely approval process to go with Flint Hill before we can break ground. There are 
some technical issues there that we’re trying to work through.  
 
With Stribling, it is possible to break ground in the next fiscal year. With the over/under, we could be 
over. That is certainly a goal of ours. We want to get these built and habitable as quickly as possible.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – Those charts and projections are based on current market conditions. We have 
no idea what the market is going to look like a year from now. As we deliberate this, I think we should 
‘walk back’ to the advice of counsel. When we think about making a motion, tie in the approval that we 
make to the allocation and the CIP plans to support this.   
 
Commissioner Russell – Have you seen the recommended conditions from staff? 
 
Mr. Armstrong – I have seen those. We didn’t see those until they were in the staff report from the last 
meeting. I think they are technically feasible. There might be some challenges in those. I am not sure of 
the benefit of some of them.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Can you be more specific on that?   
 
Mr. Armstrong – Some of them are very general. Super silt fence everywhere silt fence would be 
specified. If that type of bottom or area that receives a lot of water, I agree with that recommendation. It is 
something we often do anyway. If it is an area that is flat or gently sloped, things like that don’t have a lot 
of benefit. What might be helpful and if you are willing to put in your motion, is to allow some discretion 
of the city engineer once we actually present a plan that shows these measures so it is not black and white 
that they are absolutely required, even they are not appropriate, as determined by the city engineer at the 
time of plan submittal.  



 
17 

Mr. Dawson – I understand Mr. Armstrong’s concern about where it might not be necessary. This is a big 
project. We have a lot of conversations here about how this is executed. It is going to be a long project. 
We have two inspectors in the city right now to check all of these projects. We apply enough discretion. 
This project has perimeter silt fence. Perimeter silt fence is generally at the bottom of slopes. I think we 
should stick with perimeter silt fence.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I am pretty happy with supporting staff recommendations for the steep slope.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Are you (Mr. Dawson) OK with the idea of a clause that says you can have 
the discretion to change these?  
 
Mr. Dawson – There is already discretion in there. I am the one who determines what perimeter means. 
As someone who reviews many of these plans, it is pretty clear. For their engineer, it should be pretty 
good.  
 
Commissioner Discussion and Motion 
 
Motion – Rezoning – Commissioner Russell – Subject to sidewalk improvements on Stribling 
Avenue being prioritized appropriately in the city Capital Improvement Program, I move to 
recommend that City Council should approve ZM20-00002, on the basis that the streets proposed 
within the PUD Development are laid out in a manner substantially in accord with the 
Comprehensive Plan, and approval of the proposed PUD Development is consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and will serve the public necessity, convenience, general welfare and good 
zoning practice. Second by Commissioner Mitchell. Motion passes 7-0.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I know the funding for the sidewalks is outside the scope of this. I think 
that is appropriate for tonight’s meeting. We are going to revisit it in two weeks when we start talking 
about the CIP and again next month. Those charts made clear the tradeoff is here. Beyond the incremental 
revenue for us to be able to fund these sidewalks that neighborhood has been asking for, there could be 
enough revenue to support in bondable capacity/debt service, after those are paid off, to pay one-seventh 
of the school reconfiguration. We’re getting a project with a good urban form that we have asked for with 
grids. Everything I have gleaned, it is a good project. It provides a lot of housing and a lot of affordable 
units. When Council looks at this, they need to think long and hard about whether it is worth making this 
investment that doesn’t require any funds up front.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – Commissioner Stolzenberg makes some very good points. Those points need 
to be discussed when we get into the CIP budget.  
 
Motion – Critical Slope Waiver – Commissioner Russell – I move to recommend approval of the 
critical slope waiver for Tax Map and Parcel 18A025000, as requested, with the following 
recommended staff conditions.  
1. Site Plans (VESCP Plans) should include, at a minimum, 4 stages/phases of ESC controls, the 
first shall be “Initial/Preliminary Controls” and outfall construction, and the second shall include 
the establishment of sediment traps and conveyances. The sequence shall dictate that no 
disturbance of the slopes can occur, other than to facilitate trap/conveyance construction, until after 
the establishment of the trap, conveyances and permanent outfall (until Stage/Phase III). 



 
18 

2. “Super Silt Fence” (chain linked backing) shall be installed where perimeter silt fence is 
specified. 
3. Any disturbance occurring outside of conveyances to the trap, in either sequence or space, 
planned or unforeseen, shall be immediately stabilized with sod (for pervious areas, utilities should 
have other “same day stabilization”. 
4. The proposed trail shall be a non-erodible surface (asphalt/concrete or similar) and provisions 
shall be made in the stormwater management plan to ensure runoff from the trail is conveyed in a 
non-erosive manner, and concentrated flows shall not be discharged above slopes, or flow along the 
toe of slopes, on or offsite the property. 
5. Trees removed from areas of critical slope(s) shall be replaced within those areas, at a three-to-
one ratio (“Habitat Replacement Trees”). 
6. The Habitat Replacement Trees shall be locally native tree species appropriate for the site 
conditions. 
7. No tree(s) planted in any area(s) that contain buildings, parking lots, sidewalks, or other built 
improvements shall be counted as any Habitat Replacement Tree(s). 
8. The specific number and species of Habitat Replacement Trees will be determined by the 
applicant and the City based on available space and site conditions, and the size, location and 
species of all Habitat Replacement trees shall be specified within the landscaping plan required by 
Sections §§34-861 et seq. of the Charlottesville City Code, as amended. 
Second by Commissioner Mitchell. Motion passes 7-0.  
 
Meeting was adjourned at 7:40 PM.   
 



1 
 

Planning Commission Work Session 

November 23, 2021   5:00 PM to 7:00 PM 

Virtual Meeting 

Members Present: Commissioner Mitchell, Commissioner Lahendro, Commissioner Palmer, Commissioner 
Stolzenberg, Commissioner Habbab, Chairman Solla-Yates, Commissioner Russell 
 
Members Absent: Commissioner Dowell 
 
Staff Present: Patrick Cory, Krisy Hammill, Jack Dawson, Remy Trail, Vic Garber, Missy Creasy, Chris 
Gensic, Mike Rogers, Danny McClung, Chris Engel, Alex Ikefuna, James Freas, Riaan Anthony, Lisa 
Robertson, Sam Sanders 
 
The Chairman called the work session to order at 5:08 PM 

1. Capital Improvement Program 
 
Krisy Hammill, Budget Analyst –  
 
Next Slide – What is a Capital Improvement Program? 
It is a 5 year financing plan that contains infrastructure type projects that usually cost more than 
$50,000. They are generally non-recurring and non-operational. Projects have a useful life of five years 
or more.  
 
Next Slide – FY 2023-2027 CIP Focus 
In constructing the CIP plan for this year, we did so with a focus on several factors. One largely being 
the school reconfiguration project. If you follow the CIP from last year, we had a placeholder in for that 
project at $50 million. Based on Council’s direction from the meeting in October, that has now been 
increased from $50 million to $75 million. The funding has been moved up from FY25 to FY24. We 
also know that in doing this, there will be a need for significant revenue enhancements to afford the 
additional debt service that will be required. We know that our debt capacity will be exhausted for some 
period of time. In order to reach this amount of funding, we re-programmed some dollars that were 
previously authorized to be refunded by bonds to the school reconfiguration project. Specifically, we 
have reallocated $18.25 million from the West Main Street project and $5 million from the 7th Street 
parking garage. Those dollars have now been reprogrammed to help with the increase to the $75 million 
from the $50 million. We also looked at this CIP with an idea of spending down available balances. We 
have many CIP accounts that have ongoing balances. We’re looking to work on those accounts and get 
things moving and get some money off the books. The net effect of all of these factors is that any 
additions to the CIP required offsetting reductions in a different area. 
 
Next Slide – FY 2023-2027 CIP Budget Draft 
Here is the 5 year plan. The first column is showing the adopted budget. 2023 through 2027 are the 
current draft of what will be proposed, keeping in mind that we legally appropriate the first year. In this 
case, Council will be legally appropriating FY23. Years 2024 through 2027 would remain as a financing 
plan. You can see the three priority areas with the most funding continue to be education, affordable 
housing, and transportation and access in that order. This chart looks very similar to last year. The basic 
change here is the increase for the school project. You will also notice on this table that in every year, 
our revenues must match our expenditures. In funding the CIP, we have two large funding sources. One 
is cash from the General Fund. That amount is determined by a long-standing budget guideline of the 



2 
 

city, which is to contribute at least 3 percent of the General Fund budget to the CIP as cash or commonly 
referred to as Pay-Go. The largest funding source that we rely on for the CIP is bonds. You will notice 
that FY27 has a zero and highlighted in yellow. As we have talked about the CIP and talked about the 
fact that we will be reaching our bond capacity limits, when we talk about bond capacity, there are two 
ways to look at that. One is the legal debt capacity that the state defines, which is defined as 6 percent of 
a locality’s assessed value. In this case for the city, that was roughly $684 million. Second is the debt 
capacity, which is in keeping with what the locality can actually afford and in keeping with our policy. 
When we speak to the debt capacity in the light of the CIP, what we are speaking to is the amount of 
debt that we could issue that keep us within our 10 percent annual debt service limit. Per policy, our 
annual debt service should not exceed more than 10 percent with a target of 9 percent of the total 
General Fund budget. Under this scenario, beginning in FY27, we will have exceeded the 10 percent 
policy. Current projections show that would extend for another probably 2 to 3 years beyond 2027. We 
might not be at 10 but we would definitely be over our 9 percent target.  
 
Next Slide – Capital Improvement Program 
When we talk about the cash and the debt that goes to the General Fund, the pie chart you see here is 
really a breakdown of how all of the city’s tax revenues are spent. Generally, we talk about these in 
isolation. It is important to keep in mind that they really are very integrated. The decision on one does 
have an impact on the other. This pie chart is a depiction of all of the categories in which tax revenue is 
spent. In talking about the revenues for the CIP, we talk about debt service. It is shown here with the 
piece of the pie that is sticking out at roughly 5 percent. This was for the 22 budget. Additionally, the 
cash contribution that goes to the CIP is a small portion of the infrastructure and transportation part of 
the pie. As these pieces of the pie continue to get bigger, the other pieces of the pie in the General Fund 
have to get smaller. This is just a depiction of how they relate and the funding of those things relate and 
the decisions we make and the impact of those decisions.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – With the debt service payment, that comes out of the Capital Budget? 
 
Ms. Hammill – The debt service payment comes out of the Operating Budget. This piece of the pie 
represents the General Fund expenses. The debt service payment actually comes from the General Fund. 
It is paid through tax revenues.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I had another question that was relating to financial services. What exactly is 
that?  
 
Ms. Hammill – Financial services are Finance, Treasurer’s Office, Commissioner of Revenue, staffing 
and their operating budget.  
 
Next Slide – The AAA/Aaa Bond Rating 
When we talk about bonds, the city is fortunate enough to be AAA bond rated. We are actually part of a 
small group of localities that have that rating. It is the premier marker of a locality’s financial stability 
and strength. We have maintained this rating from Standard & Poor’s since 1964 and from Moody’s 
since 1973. A credit rating is basically an independent review; the reviewer being the credit rating 
agencies. In this case, Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. They come in and do a review of the city. They 
assess the ability and the willingness of the city’s ability to repay the debt. The great thing about a AAA 
rating is that it allows the city to borrow funds at virtually the lowest possible bond cost. That means that 
more of our dollar goes towards the project and less towards interest. There are four factors in this rating 
that are basically taken into account. One is the economy, which looks at our demographics, our 
employment base, our property values, and the composition of our tax payer. Secondly, they look at our 
management. What are our policies? What are our procedures? What does our strategic plan look like? 



3 
 

More carefully, they look at our ability to not only have these things in place but achieve those targets 
and actually adhere to our policies. Thirdly, they look at our financials. In addition to our 
clean/unqualified audits that the city receives every year, the rating agencies will review our budget 
practices. They review our financial statements, our investments. They look at our fund balances. They 
compare all kinds of ratios and calculations to see how we compare to our peers. Finally, they review 
our debt profile. What is our outstanding debt? What are our future needs? What do our obligations look 
like? A AAA rating just indicates how strong financially the city is.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – How will the high turnover of city management impact our bond rating?  
 
Ms. Hammill – They do look at management as part of that analysis. To date, that has not really been at 
the forefront of a lot of those conversations. The single most important goal of a bond rating is to assess 
our ability to pay our debt. There has not been an instance to date where the things that are happening at 
the management level have effected any of that. We have still been paying our debt and our bills. We 
have been adhering to our policies. It really has not been a source of concern at this point.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Do we have guidance on exactly what they’re looking for in that debt 
category in terms of outstanding debt, percent of budget going to debt service? Is that 9 percent goal and 
10 percent limit policy coming from the rating agencies? Is that an internal goal in order to do what we 
think rating agencies want us to do? 
 
Ms. Hammill – All of that. The 10 percent policy with a target of 9 percent is actually a city policy. 
That was a policy adopted by Council. It was also adopted at the recommendation with our financial 
advisor. In the past, we actually had a much more conservative debt policy, which was 8 percent. In 
anticipation of a ramped up CIP and future debt needs, we went back to the rating agency. We told them 
that we’re going to have a need for more debt. We are considering raising our policy from 8 percent to 
10 percent. In order to do that on the offset, we also increased our fund balance policy/our reserve fund 
policy. We were able to do it. The policy is the city’s policy. Could we change it? Sure. What would be 
the impact? That would be something we would assess with our financial advisor and compare that 
relative to our peers in other AAA bond rating agencies. In terms of the debt, it really is our entire 
profile. It is anything that is considered debt gets lumped in here. The only exception is that because we 
do have self-supporting utility funds (gas, water, wastewater, stormwater), the debt for those four 
utilities are considered self-supporting. They are set outside and they are not part of that policy.   
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Is that specifically our utility funds and not our other enterprise funds?  
 
Ms. Hammill – That’s correct. 
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – Is it fair to say the revenue is not our revenue for debt purposes? 
 
Ms. Hammill – That’s correct.  
 
Next Slide – FY 2023 Draft vs FY 2023 as Planned 
This chart attempts to show you the CIP as a 5 year plan. We adopt the first year of the plan. The years 2 
through 5 are more of a road map for what is to come. I wanted compare what the plan looked like for 
23 in the adopted budget last year versus what the plan looks like in the current draft that is before you. 
You will see that most of the categories did not change. In 2022, we had planned to spend just over $26 
million for 23. The current draft is now just under $23 million. That is a reduction of about $3.6 million. 
That is the result of reallocating the $5 million of the parking garage to the school project, which goes 
online in 2024. Just itemizing some of those changes, in the public safety section, there was $1.2 million 



4 
 

added to address the construction cost increases for the planned bypass fire station. In doing so, we had 
some accounts that were set up that were intended to establish a pot of money to replace portable radios 
and mobile data terminals several years from now when they are due. It is quite costly because of the 
numbers. We had set aside replacement dollars for that. We have slightly reduced that by $111,000 in 
2023. With transportation and access, we again reprogrammed the $5.6 million from the new parking 
deck. Five million went to the school reconfiguration project, $638,000 has been added for structural 
repairs that will be needed for the Market Street Parking Garage. Additionally, $250,000 was reduced 
from the annual paving amount. $50,000 was added for the historic district and entrance corridor design 
guidelines. Under Parks and Recreation, we did add a few line items here. First, we reduced their lump 
sum account by about $100,000. We added $150,000 for a comprehensive master plan. This would be to 
look at Parks and Recreation programs. This is not the normal master park planning process. This is 
more of a programmatic master plan. We added just over $45,000 for drainage repairs to the Oakwood 
Cemetery. $50,000 was added for an ash tree removal program. $92,500 was added for city and county 
projects, which are joint projects of Ivy Creek and Darden Towe. $350,000 was added for a McIntire 
drainage issue/correction that has been flagged by DEQ. $42,000 was added with additional dollars for a 
complete roof replacement on Key Recreation Center.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – With the $100,000 we reduced, what did Parks and Recreation lose when 
you took that out?   
 
Ms. Hammill – The Parks and Recreation lump sum account is established for maintenance types of 
things. It was funded at $300,000 this year. It was reduced in 20 or 21 because of COVID. There was a 
hope to get that back up to $400,000. With the other additions, we had to look at keeping it level this 
year.  
 
Vic Garber, Director of Parks and Recreation – Basically, it provides us flexibility for those non-
budgeted items that pop up on a quarterly basis (roof leak, irrigation). It basically gives us the flexibility 
to maintain what we have and keep the service delivery at a high level. We normally ask for $400,000. 
For this year, in order to get the comprehensive master plan, it has been reduced from $400,000 to 
$300,000.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – You are happy with the tradeoff. We get the master plan done. We’re happy 
to trade this off.  
 
Ms. Hammill – 
Next Slide – Key Messages 
One of the key messages here is strategic focus. We believe that this CIP focuses on Council’s key 
priorities: Education, Affordable Housing, Transportation, and Access. That’s where roughly 90 percent 
of all of the money going into the CIP are allocated to those priorities.  
 
With affordability, as presented, this plan is NOT affordable without significant revenue enhancements. 
The plan put before you has debt service basically doubling from just over $10 million to just over $20 
million within a very short period of time of about 4 years. Going back to that piece of the pie, that piece 
for debt service continues to get bigger, which would shrink the other pieces.  
 
With Reallocations, this is perhaps an opportunity to look at funds that have been committed but have 
not been spent in previous plans and determine if they are still needed or if they can be reallocated.  
 
What do the future needs look like? As we talk about exceeding our debt capacity, the CIP as it currently 
stands, we will putting ‘our credit card back in the pocket to sit for a while.’ 2027 was the year there was 



5 
 

only cash contributions to the CIP. In that effort, the projects that would only be funded in those years 
are what we can afford with the cash transfer. I put those dollars into the recurring or commitments for 
housing such as Friendship Court, I allocated that money there. That would be subject to future 
conversations and reallocation. There would be no way to add anything new beyond what we can afford 
with cash in 27, 28, 29, and maybe into 30. What do our future needs look like? Is everything captured 
here?  
 
With limited reserves, under this scenario that we talked about last year, even with the 10 cent tax 
increase we talked about, that was making an assumption that we were going to deplete all of our debt 
service reserves as well. With the significant tax increase, we are depleting our debt service reserves and 
our debt capacity.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I think I distracted you. By distracting you, I didn’t allow you to talk about 
the affordable housing stuff, the $925,000. I am wondering if you could talk about the housing funds. 
There are two questions I have about that. With the $925,000, is that staffing expenses or is that actual 
housing rehabilitation? Are we actually improving infrastructure with that money? The second about 
housing relates to the $10 million a year that was recommended by the consultant that we spend on our 
housing plan. These things add up to $7.3 million as opposed to $10 million. I am wondering what staff 
is thinking about that.  
 
Ms. Hammill – The $925,000 listed here is for the CAHF. Those are the competitive dollars that people 
can apply for. The $900,000 here is actually for housing vouchers. That was a multiyear commitment 
that was made and remaining intact. Everyone is aware of Friendship Court and CRHA. With regards to 
the $10 million commitment, the CIP is not the only funding source and does not have to be the only 
funding source for our housing commitment. There are also assistance programs such as CHAP, the tax 
relief programs. Those are all funded through the General Fund in a different piece of the pie.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – That is really helpful. I would really appreciate it if Mr. Ikefuna could talk 
about what we’re going to do with the $925,000. My worry is that it is about people infrastructure as 
opposed to physical infrastructure. We need that money to go to rehab and things like that.  
 
Alex Ikefuna, Director of Community Solutions – The $925,000 is the annual CIP allocation for the 
CAHF, the affordable housing fund. That is the fund we use to fund new affordability. That is the 
money we use to fund approved applications. That’s what that $925,000 stands for.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – That money is not for staffing purposes. It is to do rehabilitation and 
infrastructure work as opposed to staffing? 
 
Mr. Ikefuna – That’s correct.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – It might be helpful to get a list of what the CAHF funds.  
 
I have a question about what reallocations have been done. My understanding was that reallocations 
were for when previous CIPs have put money/authorized bonds into an account. Those bonds/money is 
sitting there as cash or authorized but not issued bonds. For the parking garage, in the previous fiscal 
years, we have put $3 million in authorized but not issued bonds into that account. You mentioned that 
the garage has been reallocated. Is that $3 million no longer in that account?   
 
Ms. Hammill – We never sell bonds on a project that hasn’t yet started. When we go to the market to 
sell bonds, we sell those on a cash basis need. That means the project is well underway and is 



6 
 

guaranteed to be completed within that 24 months. The portion that we have sold will be spent within 
the 24 months. That is an IRS regulation for tax exempt bonds. I want to clear the conception that we 
sell bonds and are sitting on that. We don’t do that. That $3 million that was previously allocated to the 
parking garage is still there. In addition to that, this proposed budget adds another $1.3 million to that. 
We still have contractual obligations to the County for parking, specifically related to the courts project. 
Those discussions are still underway. It has been decided. We are not moving forward at this point with 
a parking garage. We do have to address those obligations. Until such time we know that is settled and 
what they are, we are recommending that these dollars stay put. At what point, we know what that is, 
staff would make a recommendation to Council for any additional money that is left there and it would 
be reallocated to something else.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Is the anticipation that the cost of converting the surface lot into a county 
only parking lot or converting the first part of the Market Street garage into county courts parking, those 
could potentially consume up to $4.3 million that we allocated for it?   
 
Ms. Hammill – It is fair to say that we don’t know exactly what that is going to cost. In an effort to be 
conservative to make sure that we can meet those obligations, this is what we’re recommending that we 
set aside.  
 
Chris Engel, Director of Economic Development – We just don’t know at this point. As soon as we 
know, those funds will be eligible for reallocation at that time.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Do we have any idea of how much putting up courts parking only signs 
cost?  
 
Mr. Engel – We don’t have any specifics right now. We’re in the midst of conversation with the County 
about the fact that we’re not going to build a structure and what the agreement leaves them with regards 
to their options and trying to figure out what is going to work best for both parties.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Is there any possibility that you will go further than what was 
contractually obligated in that agreement?  
 
Mr. Engel – Everything is an option at the moment.  
 
Commissioner Russell – I just wanted to reiterate to see the breakdown on the $900,000 in CAHF. It 
was confusing to me that we have been zeroed out. There is maybe something in that breakdown.  
 
Ms. Hammill – The rehab was part of a change that happened with the 2021 budget. It was all 
combined under the one umbrella.  
 
Sam Sanders, Deputy City Manager – The CAHF for FY22 has not been released. There is nothing to 
report in the way of any allocation. Those funds will be available when we release that in late January 
where we tie that to the HR&A analysis work that they are performing right now to evaluate the prior 
ten years of investment and allow that to inform us on any changes. We will get some recommendations 
on how to better expend the funds and contract the funds so that we get exactly what we’re looking for 
in return on that investment.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – With the school reconfiguration funding, we’re looking at 2024 in taking out 
the $62 million, I was wondering why it wasn’t phased. Is the expectation that the project would be built 
within two years and complete?   



7 
 

 
Ms. Hammill – The project will be phased. The architects are working on what that looks like. It is all 
currently shown in the CIP as one lump sum in one year with a small amount in FY23 and the majority 
of the $72.5 million in 24. The end result is that it will be phased over 3 or 4 years maybe. It really 
doesn’t change our message. We will be signing a contract for $75 million. We will structure our bond 
sales to be more reflective of our drawdowns. We have to have a plan in place to pay for the total. We 
have talked about what this looks like in terms of tax increase, how we will time it. All of that is yet to 
be determined. If we sign a contract, we have to have plans in place for how we will pay for the total.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – If we exhaust our bond capacity and something comes up, how would we 
expect to handle those unexpected things?  
 
Ms. Hammill – For those things, they are in the accounts that I referred to that are more of the annual or 
recurring. In 27, I talked about how I allocated the cash in the expenditure side. It is addressing that. Our 
ability to address those things would be very limited. We would have to be relying on cash to do that.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – If we have a major disaster and we have outspent our debt capacity, we will 
have a problem.  
 
A few weeks ago, Council voted to support the recommendation from the consultants to put $10 million 
into the housing plan. I only see $7.3 million in the housing plan. What happened to the other money?  
 
Ms. Hammill – The CIP doesn’t have to be the only source of funds.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – I wonder if we can better use that money now instead of it sitting around for 
a potential parking solution and find that money later on when we know what we need to do.  
 
Ms. Hammill – Our timeframe with the County is fairly soon.  
 
Mr. Engel – The County is working on their plans for the renovation of the building now. It is expected 
to come online in 2024. We don’t have a timeframe for spending any of these dollars at the moment. We 
do know that we have to meet the obligation by the time the building opens. You all are welcome to 
recommend other uses of the dollars. It is our recommendation that we hold onto it until we have more 
details.   
 
Mr. Sanders – The conversations are ongoing. I am having conversations with the County as well in my 
capacity being part of the operations side of things. This is moving. I just want to allay any fears that 
we’re sitting and not necessarily making any progress. We’re actively talking about this right now.  
 
Ms. Hammill –  
Next Slide – Responding to the Challenge 
The easiest route (how we get that money) is raising real estate taxes. We talked last year about the 
potential to need as much as 10 cents beginning with next year’s budget to cover the additional debt 
service. With last year’s budget, the schools had a $4.5 million increase on their operational side that 
they were able to fund with one time federal funds through the CARES Act that we will need to make up 
on the operational side. That has the potential to equate to an additional 5 cents. As we look at this CIP 
and as we look at moving this project forward, Council and the School Board will need to build some 
community support for these investments. There have also been conversations about the potential sales 
tax, dedicated sales tax increase. CIP funding priorities should be revisited. Are we still meeting that 
mark? Are we putting our dollars where Council wants them to go? We can do this by looking at 



8 
 

previously approved projects. We can look at opportunities to reprogram them. While the CIP, the 
operational budgets, and tax rates are reviewed and adjusted annually, once the school project 
commences, future Councils will be obligated to complete the work and to follow through on whatever 
plans we have to finance the CIP.  
 
Commissioner Russell – With the proposed property tax raise, does that include what is annually 
allocated towards our property tax relief program or any expansion of that?  
 
Ms. Hammill – That is something the Mayor has spoken about repeatedly. That would mean additional 
dollars would be needed. As the tax rate increases, there will be increased needs for relief. For people 
who are receiving relief, they will still receive relief. It will be an additional cost to the City for those 
programs.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – If we were to assume that the sales tax authorization and referendum 
were to go through and removed the $75 million from this CIP, is there a revenue enhancement needed 
at that point? Or is this affordable without the schools?  
 
Ms. Hammill – The school project, if it moves forward, will forever be a part of the CIP. If the sales tax 
referendum were to pass and we are able to get that that is a game changer. We would have a dedicated 
source of dollars that is estimated to be about $12 million. We could pay for this entire project in a very 
short period of time with that revenue. It would not have an impact on debt capacity.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – When do we find out about the sales tax? When can it be implemented? The 
project was moved from 2025 to 2024. I wanted to make sure we had enough time to make those 
changes.  
 
Ms. Hammill – I believe what has to happen is that this would have to go through the General 
Assembly and receive General Assembly approval. It would happen in January/February. It would have 
to go on a local referendum, which I believe would be November, 2022.  
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – I see $1.2 million in new funding for a fire station FY23. What is that story?  
 
Chief Smith, Fire Chief – The fire station project framework has been underway for some time. We 
haven’t been able to fully come out of the ground due to a number of different challenges. COVID was 
obviously one of them. What you are seeing there is a change in the cost for construction based on the 
appreciation of prices and construction material prices in addition to the identified need for a water main 
to support that structure. That’s what the difference is. It is not for the complete fire station. It is to 
supplement the difference between what had already been allocated for the station. We do need the 
support for that initiative in terms of addressing the rising construction costs and the water main. It is 
very time sensitive. When we talk about the health and safety of our firefighters, it is a 60 year old fire 
station. I am very concerned about the condition of that station, which our men and women work in 
every day. It is a priority for us to have that support.   
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I have a few questions about sidewalks. The balance in 2019 was 
$683,000 and we’re adding an extra $100,000. You said that the balance was $785,000. We haven’t 
spent any money on sidewalks even though we have all of this money in the last few years. What is the 
status of those funds? What is holding up any potential projects?  
 



9 
 

Jack Dawson, City Engineer – It is all committed to a revenue shared grant. At the time, it was 50/50 
split with VDOT. That has decreased. They are matching all $750,000 with their funds. That is tied for 
at least 2 more years.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – That is already committed to a project? 
 
Mr. Dawson – That’s correct. For that we submitted a list of our top multimodal projects, especially 
since they have adjusted that fund. We’re going to start from that top priority and go as far as we can 
with that money.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg –We can’t say that there is a lot of money in the pot with nothing to do. We 
can get away with not funding it. If we put more money into the pot, we could potentially use that for 
more projects? 
 
Mr. Dawson – That is correct.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – We reviewed Stribling Avenue last month. Our recommendation was 
contingent on building those sidewalks. If we create this funding agreement, that won’t count against 
our debt capacity. This project will bring in $700,000 a year in new revenue that wouldn’t otherwise 
exist. It would pay for the project within 6 or 7 years. We would have $700,000 a year to spend as we 
wish. If the project pays for itself, doesn’t affect our debt capacity, and is a positive sum in ways that 
can fund other things beyond that sidewalk project, why are we not including it in the CIP?  
 
Ms. Hammill – That is more of a policy or a priority question. Whether the Commission wants to make 
that recommendation to Council or for Council to discuss, all of the things you have said are correct. We 
have discovered that there are ways to structure that deal so it doesn’t count against our debt capacity. It 
is a tax revenue. There is some assumption with the General Fund. There is some assumption about new 
growth and new development. Any tax revenues that come in pays for everything. As we start talking 
about earmarking particular dollars from particular developments, it is earmarking for that. When we 
have a list of $120 million of unfunded projects as we talk about a future with limited capacity to do new 
things, opportunities such as Stribling Avenue present an opportunity for the Commission or for Council 
to look at their priorities and see if it fits.  
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – Can we talk about the Strategic Investment Area (SIA)? I am presuming that 
there is still money there. There is an ‘ask’ for more money over time. What does that money get us?  
 
Mr. Ikefuna – The money goes to implement projects in the SIA. There are several projects right now 
going on in the SIA, even though they are fully funded by other funding sources. A need might arise 
from any of those projects that will require application of the SIA implementation. The construction of 
the Belmont Bridge is underway. That is part of the SIA. There is almost 100 percent design completion 
for the Elliott Streetscape project. You have a massive development initiative happening in the SIA. 
With CRHA and Friendship Court, at any given point in time, a need might arise to use any part of that 
money for a capital project related to the streets, sidewalks, or any capital need. That money still has the 
potential to be used for any one of those projects.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Have we ever expended money out of that fund?  
 
Mr. Ikefuna – We have $250,000 earmarked for Pollocks Branch pedestrian bridge at this point. Our 
development manager, Parks and Recreation, Public Works, are finalizing the logistics related to that 
project. We’re looking at starting construction late next year.  



10 
 

 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – With the Key Recreation Center roof replacement, we talked about the 
solar fund. There was money accruing in there waiting for roofs to get replaced so we could use that and 
put on a new roof instead of one that is going to be torn down. Have we had other solar projects going 
on? I know there are members of the community who ask why spend any money on solar when you can 
sign a PPA with a private company.  
 
Kristel Riddervold, Environmental Sustainability Manager – We are looking at the PPA model. 
That’s something that has become much more practical and appropriate for local governments to be 
looking at. It is possible in some cases that the monies could be used for some of the roof replacement 
that currently has no funding; not to say that we’re saving it. As soon as we can crack the PPA nut, we 
will know how best we can use those monies to deal with roof-related costs.  
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – I understand the County is working to extract as much money as possible from 
Washington DC. How does that change our story? Do we need to readjust to get more money from DC? 
Are some of these things already paid for? 
 
Ms. Hammill – A lot of the legislation, rules, or guidelines are still in the works. It is not especially 
clear right now in terms of what qualifies or what we can use those for. The Finance Director is 
following that very closely. We will be looking for ways to use those dollars depending on what we get. 
We also have the art money that the city has been allocated. We have gotten the first and second part of 
that. Much of that has not been used yet. That will become part of the conversation. I am not sure that it 
will be in a timeframe that would effect this CIP necessarily.   
 
Commissioner Habbab – For the CRHA projects, it is $3 million a year up to 2027. Is it because we 
know the development timeline of CRHA?  
 
Mr. Ikefuna – It based on the funding needs for the next 5 years. That decision was made by City 
Council based on the information provided by the CRHA. Every year, in terms of leverage funding, 
which is coming from the city, they apply for LI HTC every year. They know that gap or leverage 
funding is required. That is projected out for the next 5 years when they will be needing it for the 
massive redevelopment initiative that is going on by CRHA. Subsequent after that, they might come 
back to the city as we look into the future. The CIP is projected for five years. There might be a 
reconsideration for funding beyond the next 5 years.  
 
Ms. Hammill – Keep in mind that 2027 is completely subject to change. That is a year with no bonds. 
The CRHA projects do qualify for bonds. That’s why they’re shown under the bondable. It doesn’t 
preclude us from funding that with cash. With the dollars that are currently shown as available in 2027 
that was not shown for CRHA.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – With the $683,000 with structural repairs with the Market Street garage, I 
am glad that we’re going to keep it standing. I would like to better understand why the parking 
enterprise fund, which is bringing in revenue from garage operations, is not able to pay for this or not 
able to pay the city back. Prior to COVID, the parking enterprise fund even was booking in the high six 
figures/low seven figures net gains every year. It accrued nearly $3 million. I understand that it has been 
operating under a loss since COVID started since nobody was using the garages. One assumes that the 
garages will eventually go back to something approaching normal capacity. If the purpose of the parking 
enterprise fund was to pay for its own operations, doesn’t that include keeping and maintaining its own 
capital infrastructure?   
 



11 
 

Ms. Hammill – The parking enterprise fund was set up to operate in the way that you are describing; an 
enterprise fund that is self-supporting, all of those revenues would come in, it would maintain all of its 
infrastructure, eventually be able to support its own debt outside the General Fund. That was the plan. 
What has happened is that in doing that you have to assume all of the costs of that infrastructure, 
depreciation, and lots of other things that the parking revenues, with the whole, don’t cover. What has 
happened is that the parking has operated as a quasi-enterprise fund for the last few years. In pre-
COVID, there was a fund balance in that fund. As COVID happened and as the transfers back to the 
General Fund have continued to happen, I believe the estimate of the fund balance in the parking fund 
will end as of June 30, 2021 with just over $640,000. That is not enough to cover the expected cost of 
Market Street. We are expecting a very similar bill coming down the pipe for Water Street in a short 
period of time. We would expect the parking fund to cover that. That is why we didn’t look to the 
parking fund for the Market Street repairs.  
 
Mr. Engel – Ideally, we would use the funds for this purpose. We don’t have enough funds there, given 
the situation, to do so.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I am looking at the current adopted budget. It was $660,000 projected. It 
still said in this current fiscal year that the parking enterprise fund after the $750,000 transfer would 
book a $677,000 profit. That alone would pay for this garage and presumably the following years could 
pay for Water Street. Are we running significantly behind budget? Even if we can’t do it this fiscal year, 
if we’re assuming at some point to get back to normal, if any given year’s revenue/net gain can pay for 
anyone of these expenditures, why can’t it be paying us/the CIP fund back? What is the outlook for the 
parking enterprise fund once the Water Street garage lease resets in 2024?   
 
Ms. Hammill – The dollars in the parking fund, whether it is money to the General Fund or CIP, it is all 
the same dollars. The net parking revenues are coming back to the General Fund or they are paying 
expenses related to parking.  
 
Mr. Engel – Yes, the budget was pretty close to what we expected. I think it ended a little under. The 
net balance was $640,000 at the end of 2021. That is not enough to cover the expected expense on 
Market Street. We will likely have a similar amount for Water Street. We have no source for that. The 
funds, to the extent that we can accrue some money in that as we come out of COVID and revenues 
improve, it will be allocated for that. When the lease resets for Water Street that is an unknown. It will 
likely go up. We don’t know how much it will go up. That will be something that we have to deal with 
in conjunction with rates as well as other city resources to potentially cover that to maintain that.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – My question was for this current fiscal year, FY22.  
 
Mr. Engel – We’re doing OK so far. Things are improving every month. Market Street is closer to 
normal, not quite there. Water Street is still a bit off. There are new monthlies every month that are 
added back. Transient comes and goes with the season. We’re doing OK so far.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – If we’re on budget, we’re going to have $675,000 in net gain after the 
transfer. Why isn’t there money to pay for the repairs?  
 
Ms. Hammill – It is a planning piece. We have to plan for what we know what we have to pay. Right 
now, we know that we don’t have the money to cover that. Should the budget come in FY22 and 
Council decides they want to redirect some of that money from the parking fund to pay for those, they 
certainly could with a separate action. In terms of planning a CIP, we have to plan for what we know 
right now, which is that the parking fund does not have enough money to cover those.  



12 
 

 
Commissioner Habbab – I am looking at the home conservation grant program. It has $0 throughout. Is 
that an unfunded CIP item? 
 
Ms. Hammill – That was a change I believe that happened in FY21. I believe there was some concern 
about the ability to spend those dollars. They were combined. That is how the CAHF got to $925,000. It 
was funded at $800,000 with $125,000 each year going to energy conservation. They were just 
combined, making the energy conservation piece another qualification that is eligible for the CAHF 
application.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – With the Climate Action Plan we’re doing in our Comp Plan goals, there is a 
lot of allocation to achieving any of those goals that we want to achieve in future projected years.  
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – With the garage maintenance, is it possible to push that back until we have 
money?  
 
Mr. Engel – It is not recommended based on the analysis that was just done. This type of maintenance 
needs to occur every 5 to 7 years. It has been at least 6 years since the last round was done. It should 
probably be done.  
 
Ms. Riddervold – Every 5 years, there is essentially a facility condition assessment done. The items are 
presented in 3 categories with the priority one items being considered deficient items that had immediate 
impact to the functionality of the building system and need to be addressed within 1 or 2 years. This 
request is for the priority one components. They include things like structural, water proofing.  
 
The construction industry is seeing some really crazy escalations. We are finding ourselves repeatedly 
putting projects out to bid and having the bids come back higher than our estimated cost. What is in our 
current proposed plan, we don’t feel good we’re going to be able to do those projects. That’s a reality 
that everybody is hitting, not just Charlottesville.  
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – Several years ago, we were planning to fully fund the Tonsler Park project but 
pulled it because housing projects took a greater priority. There was great desire to find a way to bring it 
back. Is there a way to put Tonsler back into the plan in the 5 year scope?  
 
Ms. Hammill – Of course. There is another $3.5 million that currently resides on the unfunded list for 
Tonsler. That gets back to priorities. As we have shaped this, one of things is an addition in one place is 
a reduction somewhere else. What would be the tradeoff we push off and do Tonsler instead?  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – There is $25,000 in tree planting that is unfunded. I would like to see that 
happen. As you have said, everything is a tradeoff. I am looking at the skate park item. I have seen the 
fundraisers that they have been doing and l am looking at that $25,000 line item. If they can provide 
$100,000 for the skate park, it should definitely be possible to raise $25,000 for trees. I have read an old 
urban forester report. They talk about this funds for the forest campaign. They accept donations for 
trees. There are maybe other items where we can go out to the community and ask for some money for 
this. Can I write a check somewhere and give some money for trees?  
  
Ms. Hammill – Sure. There is an existing account in the General Fund that has existed for years that is 
just for that. People can write a check to make contributions for trees.  
 
Commissioner Lahendro – The Charlottesville Area Tree Stewards will take your check.  



13 
 

Commissioner Stolzenberg – Do we see their activities as being complimentary or substituting in a 
way if they do $25,000 then we have $25,000 for tree planting?  
 
Commissioner Lahendro – The CATs and the Tree Commission have combined efforts to plant 
additional trees. The city leans and depends on CATs to help us to try to make up the deficit in new 
trees.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – We would be happy at Parks and Recreation to get your check.  
 
Ms. Hammill – That $25,000 is the portion that is not funded. There is money in the CIP for planting 
trees. It is $75,000 each year. This draft does also add money to address the ash tree situation.  
 
Commissioner Lahendro – I would like to clarify that. $105,000 was requested for the emerald ash 
bore tree removal. We asked for $50,000 last year and got nothing. It has been cut. You keep saying 
‘adding.’ I believe that it has been cut from $105,000 to $50,000. It is the same with the tree planting. It 
has been cut from a $100,000 request, which just kept us level with the needed number of trees, to 
replace those that we lose. We have lost 460 acres of trees since 2004. We are fast not becoming a tree 
city. That is not just aesthetics. We all know what the issues are with health and what it means about 
communities that do not have enough trees. I feel silly talking about $50,000 and $25,000 when the city 
is buying something in a few years that is going to eliminate our ability to issue bonds. That tells me that 
we can’t afford it. There are smarter people in economics. That makes sense to somebody.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I would suggest you (Commissioner Lahendro) are the championship of the 
canopy. It is important. If I look at the Comprehensive Plan, you helped us develop the plan and pass the 
investment in protecting ash trees. The issue is worth it. We should find something we can delete to 
support the canopy.  
 
Commissioner Lahendro – It is a silly, short-sighted plan to think that by cutting the money to get rid 
of the ash trees that are being diseased, that you are saving in the long run. It is costing you multiple 
times what you would spend now to take them down. They’re going to come down in a storm. They’re 
going to be an emergency situation. They are riddled from the results of emerald ash bores. They are 
unpredictable when they come down. The city is going to end up spending much more.   
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – It is exactly because these small items like trees or sidewalks are so 
impactful for so little money. It is important to talk about them and to look at what we can shift around. 
When we have $4.3 million allocated to put up Court Parking Only signs, that is a lot of trees and 
sidewalks that you are soaking up for something with much less benefit to the community. Our job here 
is to be getting the best bang for every dollar we’re spending here. The school reconfiguration takes up a 
lot. There is a lot to be done in prioritizing on the rest of this.  
 
With our affordable housing plan, we have certain observations from our consultants. What they 
observed is that we have done a fairly poor job of deciding the amounts and allocations of our LI HTC 
gap funding. What they have recommended is that we put the bulk of the money into the CAHF/this 
account that can be allocated and form a committee that weighs different applications for allocations 
against each other. We get the best bang for our buck spent on affordable housing. What I see in this 
Capital Improvement Program is continuation of the same relatively small dollar amount we’re putting 
into the CAHF and very large dollar amounts for specific projects that we have made, in some cases 
specific/some cases vague, commitments to in the past. In particular, I see Friendship Court on the 
funded list for several million dollars per year and MACAA and senior housing/Park Street Christian 
Church are on the unfunded list. It seems that Friendship Court got there first and the other ones ‘jonny 



14 
 

come lately’ asks. Since this was already on the CIP, let’s keep this here. I recognize that we made a 
commitment for Friendship Court Redevelopment. That is Phases 1 through 3. Phase 4 has not been 
specified. It will probably taller with a mix of residential and commercial. All of the current residents 
will have been rehoused in Phases 1 through 3. Given the units costs we are seeing out of earlier 
Friendship Court phases, how are we prioritizing these now? Assuming we are going to be forming the 
committee to decide these things, should we (in these out years) be putting this money into one central 
pot and deciding those allocations later according to some real criteria and objective standards?   
 
Mr. Ikefuna – I am looking at two questions. The amount of money allocated for Friendship Court, in 
terms of dollars per units, might be higher than usual. The Friendship Court project is a very good 
project. It is a phased project that will yield in excess of 400 units once it is built out. One of the reasons 
the funding from the city is high in terms of investment is that Friendship Court has one way in/one way 
out. The design for that project breaks the site up. It provides integration of the design and construction 
with the rest of the city grid. Instead of one way in/one way out, it would look like a regular 
neighborhood with streetscapes, sidewalks, etc. There is a considerable expense in terms of that project. 
They came to City Council with that need. They are going to need assistance from the city in terms of 
addressing the infrastructure. With the infrastructure, the agreement between the PHA and the city is 
that infrastructure will be designed to comply with Streets That Work. It is going to be built to the city 
standards. Once it is completed, it will be turned over to Public Works for maintenance. That’s why the 
expense looks unusual. The other aspect of Phase 4, which we don’t know if it is going to happen, the 
money you’re looking at with Phase 4 is a placeholder. The decision in terms of actual funding will be 
made when we get to that point.   
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – In a sense all of our out year CIP items are placeholders. By the same 
logic, Phase 2 funding is a placeholder. We are likely to give them $2.5 million for Phase 2. If you are 
doing a competitive allocation and you have this committee that reviews requests, there is a big 
difference between saying that there is money in this pot and we’re going to say who is going to get it, 
including potentially Phase 4 versus saying that we have this money in the pot and maybe we will grab 
this extra pot of money that is already allocated only as a placeholder for one thing. I don’t mean to 
specifically pick on Friendship Court. I am not going to say that the plan is bad. Redevelopment of 
Friendship Court is a worthy goal. The plan has worthy non-housing elements in it. I have to wonder 
what are the ‘asks,’ where are we coming up with the exact numbers of the ‘asks.’ Even for those other 
things on the unfunded list, what we see is a request that gets to be one line on the unfunded list. Is there 
a proforma? Is there a description of needs and things that this money will be spent on? Is there a 
justification for why it is needed to obtain LI HTC funds? I look at Friendship Court Phase 1. I see that 
they maxed out points that they could get for external subsidy. They got an extra $900,000 of external 
subsidy. LI HTC, if you didn’t have that external subsidy, would give you more money. In making sure 
that we’re getting the most of our federal funds and making projects happen, there is a potential we 
could have made the project happen and spent less money. We could fund an extra year of vouchers or 
something. It doesn’t seem that there is a cohesive logic behind how we’re making these funding 
decisions.  
 
Mr. Sanders – You’re acknowledging the challenges that we have. We have challenges with how we 
have done things in the past. That is the reason we’re doing the analysis that we’re doing. In reading the 
Affordable Housing Plan, there is a lot of work to be done. The points you’re making this evening are 
really specific along with the analysis work that needs to get done. We don’t want to get into picking 
‘winning’ or ‘losing’ situation after having already awarded these funds to Friendship Court. I 
understand what you’re saying. We need to have a process. That is very much what I am focused on in 
everything that I am doing these days. The Council on the 6th is having a discussion about governing the 
CAHF funds. The plan does suggest that we put more money or just drop all of the money into that fund. 



15 
 

That is exactly where that conversation needs to begin and focus on what the outcomes can be once we 
start to do things a little differently. HR&A is going to give us an eye opening report. It will be hard for 
us to ‘digest.’ The truth hurts some time so you take that information and move it forward. 
Commissioner Mitchell, you were concerned about spending the $925,000 on staff in any way. There is 
need for additional staff to be able to get this work done to the degree that it needs to get done and to be 
able to check the boxes you have pointed out with your comments. All of it is important for us to 
discuss. We have to continue to evaluate this. We are on track for trying to get there. It is going to take 
some time and more resources to achieve it.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I don’t mean to be picking on any specific project. I am using Phase 1 
because it is what we have the numbers for in terms of their LI HTC application. Other than that, there 
really isn’t much documentation. All of that funding has been awarded.  
 
Does this layout of the CIP put us in a good position for this future where we have a CAHF committee 
and have a better system for allocating these funds? Does it make sense to leave it as it is now? Perhaps, 
it makes sense to leave it as it is now with the understanding that once this committee is formed and we 
create that better process, next year’s CIP might not look at all like this one does; these placeholders will 
be moved around later because of that process.  
 
Ms. Hammill – Keep in mind that the CAHF, the vouchers, Friendship Court are all cash funded 
projects. Unlike the bondable projects where we can easily move things within those 5 years and adjust 
our timetable for outgoing bonds, you don’t have that flexibility on the cash side. In terms of where our 
plan is right now, your cash balance is your cash balance. If you talk about shifting that around, you’re 
still talking about tradeoffs. Even as you talk Phase 4 for Friendship Court, that is a cash funded project. 
That cash would not be available until 26 and 27. Keep that in mind as you talk about these different 
options. It is still a conversation about tradeoffs.  
 
Mayor Walker – I am not sure how we ended up at the point we ended up with those 
discussions/amount. There is a TIF with this property where there are taxes that they can use to fund 
some of the development. I asked the city for the amount of money that we had invested in Friendship 
Court and that there should be an ownership stake on the property to ensure that we didn’t end up in the 
situation where we ended up a few years ago and the way they are separating out the phases. Since there 
wasn’t a plan for Phase 4, it could potentially all be market rate. Every time I have posed that question, I 
did not get a clear answer. For the city to fund Phases 1 through 3, we should definitely have Phase 4 
transferred in ownership to the city to ensure that the city had a ‘say’ in what happened in that plan. 
Those things didn’t happen for a variety of reasons. Those things should still be monitored. With the 
Parks and Recreation planning that is happening now, there is a plan to not have the level of 
affordability in this area that we could have targeted, especially since everyone is familiar with what 
surrounds Friendship Court. They were pretty consistent on that de-concentration of poverty model, 
which I didn’t understand. There are also homeownership opportunities that are going to come in there. 
There is still a lot of unanswered questions. The city could have leveraged its position based on the 
amount of money that is invested.   
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I would like to emphasize that it is still early for that. We have put in a 
little less than $6 million out of a $22 million total commitment. There is much more managing of this 
project left to be done. I would like to see us get the most out of it and the other projects as well.   
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – Looking back on Mayor Walker’s concept of an ownership stake, my 
understanding and reason we couldn’t use bondable funds for Friendship Court was because the city did 
not have an ownership stake. Would that change the formula?  



16 
 

 
Ms. Hammill – The tax law gets pretty complicated with that. Ownership was a factor. If things were to 
change, we could certainly reevaluate that. As it stands right now, it was not eligible for bonds.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – There would be great value if the commissioners could give staff input on the 
tradeoffs that they might be interested in. We should not raise the amount of money to spend. There is 
an opportunity to do some tradeoffs. There would be value in us giving staff input on tradeoffs so we’re 
not having this debate in December when we have to vote.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – I am looking at the Downtown Mall infrastructure repairs. It is $78,000 every 
year. I also saw the sidewalk repair. If it is a recurring expense, why is that part of the CIP? 
 
Ms. Hammill – The Downtown Mall infrastructure ($78,000) was put into the CIP a couple of years 
ago. That is fully funded by the café fees that are paid by the cafes on The Mall. If you look at the top, 
you see an offsetting revenue for that. That is for more general maintenance. Generally speaking, the 
things that are in the CIP are generally not recurring in nature. Anything that we fund with cash can go 
in the CIP. A lot of times it is put in there to accumulate the funds for something that might be a bigger 
expense, an ongoing expense because the appropriation carries forward as opposed to something in the 
General Fund, where the appropriation, at the end of every year, is over with unless Council re-
appropriates it.   
 
Commissioner Habbab – If it is non-bondable, we’re diminishing the actual 3 percent of the budget 
going into the CIP for other projects.  
 
Ms. Hammill – As a general rule, we try not to do that. I can check with staff and get more details for 
you on that sidewalk repair account to find out why it is different from the everyday sidewalk 
maintenance.  
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – Any thoughts or desires on the straw polls for items in the CIP? The parking 
structure-diminishing funding and pulling existing funding out for reprogramming (Majority of 
Commission gave approval). Ash trees-full funding for ash trees.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – We probably need to get the Tree Commission and Mr. Garber to help. If 
we’re going to do that, it is important to do that.  Canopy is important. We probably need to have a chat 
with Commissioner Lahendro to talk about other things in Parks and Recreation that we might want to 
do/switch off. I agree with Mr. Lahendro that the canopy is important. We need to protect it. It begins 
with the ash tree.  
 
Commissioner Russell – We have received a letter November 18th from the Tree Commission 
requesting $100,000 for planting trees, $105,000 for combatting emerald ash bore, and supporting the 
Parks and Recreation CIP request. 
 
Commissioner Lahendro – The Tree Commission has already made its recommendations known. Does 
that effect what you (Commissioner Mitchell) said?  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – Yes. We need to make tradeoffs. We need to do the work to protect the 
canopy. If we’re going to do that, we’re going to need concede that something else needs to go.  
 
Commissioner Lahendro – I just voted to concede the parking garage.  
 



17 
 

Chairman Solla-Yates – Restore sidewalks funding?  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – We should talk about what restoring funding means. Our Pre-COVID 
budget was $300,000 a year for new sidewalks. We’re down to zero for this year and $100,000 into 
perpetuity until funding capacity runs out. It makes sense given the goals of the Comprehensive Plan we 
just passed to at least restore the $300,000. Over a 5 year CIP, that is $1.5 million. There is $4.3 million 
for that garage. The two contractually obligated options the County can choose, there is no chance it 
should cost anywhere near that amount to implement that. Without hearing some rationale from staff, I 
am willing to allow some amount be left in that fund. Millions of dollars for signage doesn’t make sense 
to me. The amount that should be removed from that fund should be nearly all of it to pay for those 
things.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – We need to make sure that if we’re adding stuff, we delete stuff. We do the 
math for Council so Council doesn’t have to do it and it balances.  
 
I am pretty comfortable with staff’s recommendations.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Separate from balancing the budget, Stribling Avenue, which would be 
paid for by revenue that would not affect our budget capacity, seems like a ‘no brainer.’  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – You’re onto something. That is worthy of a conversation there. If we can do 
that and make it work and not go into debt, it makes sense to do it.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – Would that include a new revenue item of drawing on that developed line 
of credit?  
 
Ms. Hammill – In the CIP, there would be a revenue line item. There would be the expense for the 
sidewalk. We would have to look at the backend in terms of the funding agreement. Keep in mind, it is a 
revenue. It is a way to get that done. On the General Fund side, it is now an earmark of revenue that is 
not available for anything else.  
 
Commissioner Russell – When we were talking about the bypass fire station, is that all expected $1.2 
million to be spent in 2023? 
 
Ms. Hammill – I am not sure what the spend down rate would be. We would not be spending the bonds 
until we spent the money or it is well underway. We have to have the budget available to sign the 
construction contract.  
 
Commissioner Habbab – With Stribling, the money will be earmarked in the General Fund. It wouldn’t 
exist if the project doesn’t happen for the sidewalks. It seems silly to not do it. The only way the money 
is going to be there is if we have the project.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – If I recall, the way we voted, it only happens if Council authorizes the 
infrastructure. Stribling will happen unless Council commits the city to pay for the city infrastructure.  
 
Ms. Creasy – That is how you framed your recommendation. Council would have different ways of 
looking at that. There would be income on the front end for the tax revenue. When we add residential to 
our community, there are costs that do arise with that. We don’t know what all of those things would be. 
We would have new revenue from property taxes. We would also have new costs that we didn’t have 
before.  



18 
 

 
Ms. Hammill – From a pragmatic standpoint in terms of this work session and the public hearing that 
we have in December is the idea that you will come up and form your recommendation. That will be 
part of the presentation at the public hearing on the 14th. What are we envisioning this process to look 
like in terms of the public hearing?  
 
Ms. Creasy – In the past, the CIP hearing has been an education opportunity. It is an opportunity to 
provide an overview of what the CIP is and what is being presented. It helps give the new members and 
the community that context. Typically, there is the discussion that is very similar to what has evolved in 
this work session. In the work session, it is more high level. The Commissioners ask quite a few 
questions. A lot of research needs to be done in between. We will note that Commissioners provided a 
number of questions along the way. Staff was able to spend quite a bit of time getting answers to those 
questions. That was a step that hasn’t happened until later in this discussion process. It might be after the 
education and public hearing portion that the discussion by the Commission may be a little more 
streamlined. From what I am hearing so far, there is interest in a recommendation that would include a 
potential decrease of certain accounts and potential increase of certain other accounts. Usually, the 
Commission doesn’t get into the weeds of what those numbers are. It is more the priority areas that we 
would like to see more funding, we would like to see funding come away from certain areas, and we 
would like to see funding go towards these items in their stead rather than you getting into the 
accounting portions of it. It is more of the broader perspective. That might be the direction the hearing 
goes. I don’t know if any of the Commissioners have thoughts based on our past CIP hearing 
experiences.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – It is very important that the Commissioners walk staff through the tradeoffs 
so staff is prepared to explain the tradeoffs. Either you embrace the budget staff has prepared or you 
don’t. You will understand the tradeoffs that will need be made so staff can coach us through those and 
we can vote on those tradeoffs.  
 
Ms. Creasy – How that has been documented in the past is that the Commission’s motion ends up being 
put into a memo format. That memo is placed with the materials that go to Council specific to the CIP. 
Council is there to listen. They are also reminded with materials that are in their packet.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – What has been frustrating over the years is that we did the ‘sausage.’ It will 
be really helpful if we could have that debate via email, talking back and forth with staff so we 
understand the consequences/tradeoffs before we get on the dais to make those decisions. If we have the 
numbers, we can make a decision and be ready to make our vote.  
 
Ms. Creasy – If you have specific questions and items that you are interested in, we can provide that 
factual information. We are not going to encourage a meeting over the internet/email. We would have a 
problem providing background information on items. We just can’t have you all having discussions 
through email about where that lands. That’s why you’re here. You can do that here and you can do that 
at the hearing.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell – Ask the questions now. Get them answered so we can come to the meeting 
prepared to make a decision.  
 
Chairman Solla-Yates – With restoring the funding for Tonsler Park bringing it back onto the 5 year 
plan? 
 
Commissioner Mitchell – I would love to do it. Tell us what we take out of the budget. 



19 
 

Chairman Solla-Yates – I would suggest the Parking at this point.  
 
Commissioner Stolzenberg – I would have to better understand what is in that plan and what that 
funding would be going towards. I would certainly point to other needs within the Transportation and 
Access category that the parking garage funding could and should be going towards if we’re going to be 
implementing our Comp Plan goals.    
 
Commissioner Russell – Wouldn’t we allocate all of the slate roof replacement to FY24? What is 
FY23? Is that design?   
 
Ms. Riddervold – Typically big roof projects like that have design in one year and construction in the 
following year. We follow a design bid, build model. 
 
Commissioner Russell – I am not understanding why we have so much in the fire station. I understand 
it increased. It is a big number and not a lot of detail behind it.  
 
Ms. Riddervold – One of the problems/realities with the fire station is that it has been subject to many 
years of delay and a number of capital projects being put on hold during COVID. That whole project in 
a question. Looking at the program the fire department is looking to deliver from that location, building 
something that we have the budget for doesn’t accomplish it. Between trying to meet the program needs 
and the 2023/2024 budget realities and this waterline component that wasn’t contemplated at the front 
end has put us in a place where we are.  
 
Mr. Sanders – The fire station has been identified as a priority for quite some time. It has been sitting 
and sitting. Once the water main was discovered as an issue, we spent a great deal of time trying to 
figure out if there was a different way that we could address that. We have exhausted all options, 
including having looked at it thinking that might be an eligible expense. We have found that we cannot 
use that funding source to address that $600,000 expenditure. The cost increase for looking at updating 
the cost is where the other $600,000 came from. That $1.2 million is a true, hard number in what it is 
going to take in order for us to get started on the station soon. If we delay any further, it will go up 
again.  
  
Commissioner Stolzenberg – One item on the unfunded list is the energy savings performance 
contract. It costs $5 million and pays $333,000 a year. As I recall, the last time we did a big bond 
issuance, staff said a $10 million bond is about $660,000 of debt service per year for 20 years. It exactly 
pays for itself. The biggest problem is that it uses up $5 million of debt capacity. I wouldn’t recommend 
it be added this time. If we were to get that referendum, I would certainly want to see that. It pays for 
itself. You save a lot of energy, which is good emissions-wise. After that payback period, that is 
$333,000 every year.  
 
One item I would like details on is that CAT Park and Ride. I have not heard about this. I did a little 
research. I see a Wendy’s land acquisition in the 6 year plan for the state. I like the amount of funding 
matching. I really don’t see the need for Park and Ride. It sounds like it is in the County and serving the 
County people. Why is that our cost instead of the County? Could we ask the County to fund that? If we 
short bridge inspections, are we going to have a bridge collapse?  
 
Ms. Hammill – With the CAT Park and Ride, we will get you some more information. I do want to 
clarify that was only a request. It is not anywhere. It is not in the CIP. I think there were a bunch of 
questions to be determined with that. On the bridge inspections, one of the things that will be helpful for 



20 
 

you is to reaffirm balances in some of these accounts. That will help you answer some of these 
questions.  
 
Commissioner Russell – How is something like inspections even a capitalized expense? That seems 
like an anomaly.  
 
Ms. Hammill – This has been an item that has been in the CIP for years. Part of it is accumulating funds 
to be able to pay for these. It is funded with cash. It is primarily in there for its accumulation function. It 
also leads to a broader question of a potential CIP add. If the inspections render some need for bridge 
replacement, that would eventually be a capital project. That account is only for inspections. It is an 
anomaly in the CIP. There are other recurring accounts that are in the CIP that are funded by cash. It is 
the way to designate those funds.  
 

2. Public Comments 
 
Peter Krebs – I wanted to remind everybody of your one job. It is to be the shepherd of the Comp Plan. 
We’re very excited about the good work, the hard compromises, and the excitement about having this new 
Comprehensive Plan. It talks about what it is going to take to be a livable community. It talks about parks, 
sidewalks, and affordable housing. This budget doesn’t really reflect what the Comp Plan says. It oddly 
differs from it. I know that there are a lot of hard choices. We can’t pass the Comp Plan and then have zero 
for the sidewalks. That is a terrible look. I would definitely underline the idea of putting money in for 
sidewalks. The Parks and Recreation lump sum is a pretty good, flexible place where money could go to be 
used for forestry of various kinds, land acquisition, and other opportunities that come up. I would 
recommend some of the monies from the parking garage. We’re not going to need it. Sidewalks and parks 
are great places.  
 

3. Adjournment 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:27 PM    

 


	00 Agenda 5-9-2023
	PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR DOCKET
	A. COMMISSIONERS' REPORTS
	C. CHAIR'S REPORT


	01 April  2023 site plan list
	02 minutes notation
	03a. PRELIM REPORT 4.19.2023 626-630 Cabell Ave Rezoning
	Purpose of Meeting and Applicant’s Request (Summary)
	Context Map 3- General Land Use Plan, 2021 Comprehensive Plan
	Key Elements of the proposed Development
	Module 1 (Zoning Map) from Cville Plans Together
	Proposed Discussion points for the Planning Commission:
	Attachments

	03b. 20230411 630 Cabell Ave Rezoning PC Presentation
	04 PC_Minutes_110921 - Corrected Minutes
	05 Planning Commission Work Session - 112321 - Corrected

